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AFH’s key achievements in 2018

Revenues
exceeded

Trading

for the

£50 million

year
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4.4
billion

was in line
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up 51%

under our management
at year end
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Funds Under
Management
£bn

Acquisitions over the past year

LFS & Partners Core Financial
Holdings Limited
Limited
28 Sept

31 Aug

Britton
Financial
Limited

Lifetime Investment
Seminar Services

Monopoly Financial
Consultants

10 Nov

6 Apr

5 Jan

Nov

Dec

2017

JW Wealthcare
4 Dec

Jan

Feb

Mar

Harrison White
FS Limited
28 Feb

Meritor Financial
Management
Limited

Arc Insure
Limited
6 Jul

18 May

Apr

Mark Hughes
& Associates Limited
9 Apr

May

Jun

Corville Financial
Services Limited
8 Jun

Jul

Emery-Little
HTH (Group) Financial Service
Limited
LLP
24 Aug

21 Sept

Aug

2018

Sep

Harvey Curtis
LLP
22 Aug

Oct

Colwyn Bay
Office
25 Sept

Ashton House IFA Ltd
4 Sept
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Chairman’s statement
Whilst the two fund raising exercises
undertaken during the year raised
£32.5 million, representing a 36%
dilution to shareholders, AFH’s focus
on allocating capital and combining
accretive acquisitions with organic
growth generated an increase in
Earnings per Share of 43% after
dilution.
Acquisitions provide the Company with
the mass to deliver the aspirations that
the Chief Executive set out in his 2017
report to shareholders. However, it is
a testament to the executive team’s
continued ability to successfully
integrate multiple acquisitions that
gives the Board confidence in the
future. Once again, the Company
delivered over 90% of its aggregate
deferred consideration targets, each
of which required profitable growth
from the businesses acquired.

I am pleased
to report a fifth
consecutive year of
profitable growth with
increased margins
complementing
both organic and
acquisitive growth.
During a year in which
equity markets have
exhibited significant
volatility driven by
political and economic
uncertainty, the
Company undertook
two successful
fund raisings which
enabled it to complete
sixteen acquisitions
and end the year
with significant cash
balances of £21.5
million with which
to continue our
expansion.
4

As highlighted in my previous reports
AFH invested heavily during its
initial years on AIM to establish an
infrastructure able to support a large
national financial services business
and this year we were able to build on
this scale to achieve a further double
digit increase in our underlying EBITDA
margin from 17% to 21%. This achieved
the first of our three aspirational
targets, comfortably ahead of the
timeframe set by the Board.
Following the acquisition of CTL3
in November 2018, after the period
under review, the Company reached
its second target of £5 billion Funds
under Management.
At the period end AFH was managing
funds on behalf of our clients totalling
£4.4 billion, an increase of over
57% during the year at a time when
market indices fell slightly. While this
level of funds was boosted by our
acquisitions, organic growth, net of
redemptions, was 13.6%, representing
our third successive year of doubledigit growth, while gross organic
inflows exceeded 17% during the year.
During the year the Company
reached the dual milestones of
£50 million revenues and £10 million
underlying EBITDA. This represented
an increase of 51% and 85% over the
prior year respectively and reflected
the increased margins that have
been achieved through economies of
scale.

In line with our drive to increase
shareholder value the Company has
established a strategic aim of reducing
investment costs for our clients by
leveraging the increased scale of
AFH for their benefit, while ensuring
the long-term sustainability of the
Company. We believe that this is not
only in the spirit of sound commercial
business but leads the way for future
financial services models, as many
commentators predict that we
approach a period of reduced gross
market returns. During the year
we have been able to demonstrate
the success of this strategy by
introducing segregated mandates for
our investment proposition, bringing
institutional pricing to our clients,
and in July announcing that our AFH
Direct clients would no longer pay
platform fees. Both of these initiatives
have been delivered with the result
that total fees paid by our clients using
these services have been reduced.
Organic revenue growth of £6.1
million represented an increase of
21% on revenue generated in 2017
while gross margins increased to
54%. We continue to see strong
demand for financial advice from our
clients driven by legislative changes,
including pension freedoms and
lifestyle needs. This has generated
record levels of financial planning
revenue to supplement our strong
recurring income.
As in previous years we have
augmented our organic growth with
selected acquisitions, structured
to ensure that shareholder value
is enhanced through a fixed
relationship between the profitability
of an acquisition and the price paid
to vendors. The success of this model
has again been confirmed by the
high level of deferred consideration,
and therefore total price, paid for
transactions reaching a milestone
during the year and the associated
increased return on capital for
our shareholders. The synergies
generated from acquisitions and the
revenue growth that the advisers
have achieved from the AFH
proposition has been a contributing
factor to the double digit increase in
our Underlying EBITDA margin in 2018
and has allowed your Board to set its
future aspirations with confidence.

Shareholders
In December 2017 and October
2018 two successful fundraisings
enabled the Company to expand
its institutional shareholder base
while benefitting from the continued
support of our existing institutional
shareholders. I would like to welcome
our new shareholders, who join at
an exciting period of the Company’s
development, and to thank existing
shareholders for their continuing
support. At the year end the Company
had a strong balance sheet on which
to execute its pipeline of acquisitions
and, we believe, a strong shareholder
base that can support its growth
ambitions.

Shareholders
will
have
the
opportunity to meet Board members
at general meetings and at other
opportunities such as investor
meetings,
presentations
and
webcasts at which shareholders
and stakeholders will be able to
ask questions of management. The
Company will update shareholders of
such events when appropriate.

Dividend
The Directors intend to continue the
Company’s progressive dividend
policy
while
recognising
the
requirement to maintain sufficient
cash reserves within the business
to fund its growth strategy. Having
considered this in the light of the
strong performance during the
year under review, the Directors
propose a dividend of 6.0 pence per
share, an increase of 50% over the
2018 dividend. This dividend will be
paid 2.0 pence on 15 February 2019
to shareholders on the register of
members at the close of business on 1
February 2019, the ex-dividend date is
31 January 2019, 4.0 pence on 5 July
2019 to shareholders on the register
of members at the close of business
on 14 June 2019 with an ex-dividend
date of 13 June 2019. It is the intention
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AFH communicates with shareholders
and the market generally using a
Regulatory News Service provider
for regulatory news releases which,
in accordance with AIM Rule 26, are
available on the Company’s website
along with interim and annual
accounts, shareholder notifications
and other corporate governance
material for at least the last five years.
Shareholder votes will be notified and
kept on the website in a clear and
transparent manner.

Oct-15
Oct-15

PROPOSED
PROPOSED

of the Board to continue the bi-annual
dividend in future years.

Outlook
The Directors believe there is
a continuing requirement for a
professional, financial planning-led
approach to wealth management
delivered by trusted personal advisers
and supported by the effective use of
technology.
The Board has worked to ensure
that it has put in place the necessary
infrastructure to support its growth
plans for 2019 and beyond. Continued
investment in technology is expected
to accelerate the benefits of scale and
the infrastructure investment made in
previous periods.
The Company continues to be cash
generative and maintains a strong
balance sheet. The Board expect the
consolidation within the investment
and advice markets to continue in
the future and will seek appropriately
priced opportunities to expand our
captive distribution throughout the
financial sector, to drive increased
profitability.
Given the progress made in 2018
and the first quarter of the 2019
financial year, the Directors view the
coming period as providing excellent
prospects and look forward to
continuing our success in the future.
John Wheatley
Chairman
18 January 2019
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Notes to the AGM

It remains our ambition to maintain
the alignment of interest between
our employees and advisers with
those of our clients and shareholders.
It is in response to the support
we receive from our staff that we
continue to develop and promote
our people from within the Company
at every opportunity, so that many
key positions are occupied by homegrown talent. It is the enthusiasm,
dedication and creativity of our staff
and advisers that allows the Company
to continue to deliver according to its
strategy each year.

Oct-15 Oct-16 Oct-17 Oct-18

Financial statements

The continued growth of AFH is due
to the hard work and professional
approach of our employees and
advisers. I would like to thank them
for the contribution they have made
to another highly successful year in
which we have continued to grow
our business profitably and improve
our operating margins in line with the
Board’s expectations.

6.06.0

6.0

3.1

1.7

1.2

Our people
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Governance
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Dividend per share
Dividend
per share
(pence)
(pence)

EPS
(pence)
EPS
(pence)

Strategic Report

Earnings attributable
to shareholders
£m



Chief executive’s report
Of our three aspirational targets
set out at the beginning of 2017, we
achieved the first of these targets
during the period with our underlying
EBITDA margin exceeding 20%. Post
period end we also reached our
Funds under Management target of
£5 billion, achieving the second of
our mid-term aspirational targets.
Considering our continued strong
growth, we saw a sharp increase in our
revenue to £50.7 million, the Board is
confident that the final aspirational
target of revenues totalling £75
million per annum will be achieved
ahead of our original expectations.

Financial performance

2018 marked an
exceptional year
of progress for
the Company
in the financial
planning led wealth
management market.
We successfully
completed and
integrated 16
acquisitions with a
combined value of
£34 million during the
period, completed
two placings raising
funds totalling
£32.5 million and
continued to increase
our profitability,
as measured by
Underlying EBITDA
increasing by 85%
for the year to
£10.4 million.
6

As previously highlighted, the year
under review produced our fifth
consecutive year of growth and
improved profitability since joining
AIM in 2014. Increased revenues and
improved margins resulted in a 43%
increase in Earnings per Share to
16.0p after considering the dilutive
impact of our successful fundraisings
in 2018. Underlying Earnings per
Share, excluding amortisation of our
acquired client portfolios increased
by 34% to 22.7p.
The success of integrating our
acquisitions complemented doubledigit organic growth with productivity
per adviser reaching record levels.
Revenue for the 12 months ended 31
October 2018 of £50.7 million was over
50% above the corresponding period
(2017: £33.6 million) and continues
our progress to our aspirational
revenue target.
The growing requirement of our
clients for financial advice generated
£20.4 million (2017: £12.2 million)
of new business revenues, while
recurring income of £30.3 million
(2017: £21.4 million) continued
to strengthen our revenue base,
driven by our growing funds under
management.
In addition to the organic funds
invested, an additional £1.5 billion
of funds were brought under
management as the result of
acquisitions made during the year.

Funds under
Management
£ billion

Reported as at
1 November 2017
Inflows through
acquisitions
Gross Inflows from
organic growth
Market impact
Outflows
Balance as at 31 October
2018

2.79
1.47
0.44
(0.14)
(0.16)
4.40

Gross margins remain strong at 54%
(2017: 53%). The gross margin of our
core business remained at 55% (2017:
55%) while we were again able to
utilise our growing purchasing power
for the benefit of our clients and
reduce third-party costs for them for
a fourth successive year.
2018 was a year of further investment
in our technology and infrastructure,
as we continued to seek operational
efficiencies and offer a streamlined
experience to our clients. We are
building technology solutions to
support our advisers and provide
greater flexibility and personalisation
in our interaction with existing and
potential clients and expect this
investment to continue into 2019 and
beyond.
Our marketing strategy continues to
embrace the digital opportunities and
challenges for the sector. Since 2016
the Company has invested heavily in
establishing a marketing capability to
support a growing national business
and to extend beyond the traditional
IFA routes to market. While we believe
that face to face advisory remains the
best model to serve clients’ needs,
our evolving digital approach is
expected to significantly expand our
target market and to provide greater
benefits to individuals and corporates
who join the AFH community.
The significant growth of the Group
has made it possible to finance these
marketing and IT projects, which we
believe will provide clear commercial
advantages for our clients and
drive further consolidation in the
market while generating significant
shareholder and client value in the
future.

In December 2018 we announced
that the milestone of £5 billion Funds
under Management had been met
and, in this report, I am pleased to
confirm that the EBITDA margin for the
2018 financial year was also achieved.
The Company remains on target to
meet our revenue aspiration.

Strategy
The Company’s strategy to increase
shareholder value through the
expansion of the AFH community
remains at the heart of our growth.
This strategy continues to be driven
by a combination of organic growth
through greater productivity of our

• Revenues of £75 million
• Underlying EBITDA margin of 20%
on revenue

As a result of these achievements
your Board has set new milestones
with the objective of meeting them
within a three to five year timeframe.
• Funds under Management of £10
billion
• Revenues of £140 million per
annum
• Underlying EBITDA margin of 25%
on revenue

Our strategy has enabled the
Company to enjoy annual doubledigit organic growth in both Funds
under Management and recurring
revenue since we joined AIM in 2014
while maintaining gross margins and
generating operating efficiencies to
drive growth in Earnings per Share.
The Board remains committed to
maintaining our existing strategy to
meet our clients’ ongoing needs in
order to fulfil our vision and expand
our brand throughout the UK financial
services sector.

Culture is at the centre of any
successful organisation and remains
the driving force of both our internal
growth and acquisitions. Our values
and “brand pillars”, are set out in
this Annual Report. These have been
documented to ensure that we are
able to measure and achieve both
our vision and financial aspirations.
Central to our strategy is to put clients’
interests first to build a sustainable
business that reflects our vision,
including a drive to reduce the cost of
ancillary services for our clients and to

AFH Financial Group Report and Accounts 2018
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Notes to the AGM

The effective rate of Corporation
Tax increased to 23.5% in the year
reflecting the loss of tax relief for
the amortisation of intangible assets
purchased after July 2015. This
resulted in an ongoing disallowable
non cash expense of £1.4 million.
The effective rate of tax based on
Underlying EBITDA was 18%.

of

embrace them in the AFH community.
During the year we continued to
reduce fund-management fees while
retaining our independent status,
providing access for our clients to the
whole of the market and to drive down
custody and administration costs.
During the summer we announced
that platform fees would no longer be
charged to clients on the AFH Direct
platform in what we believe to be a
unique proposition for clients of IFA
businesses and one that will drive
further growth for the Company as
new clients and potential acquisition
targets recognise the benefits of
joining the AFH community.

Financial statements

advisers and by value accretive
acquisitions. At the start of the 2017
financial year the Board set itself
three financial aspirations over a
three to five-year timeframe:

Profit after tax for the year of
£6.0 million represents a 94%
increase
in
the
year
(2017:
£3.1 million) and after the dilution
created by our successful fund
raisings during the year has increased
reported Earnings Per Share to 16.0p
(2017: 11.2p). Underlying Earnings per
Share, EBITDA plus non-cash sharebased payments as adjusted for tax,
is a key measure used by the Board
as it reflects the cash Earnings per
Share generated by the business. As
noted above, in 2018 this increased
to 22.7p (2017: 17.0p), representing a
34% increase.

233 233

Oct-15 Oct-16 Oct-17 Oct-18

During the period we reported an
85% increase in underlying EBITDA
and a further improvement to our
underlying EBITDA margin, as the
efficiencies and economies of scale
we continue to target were reflected
in our results. I am particularly
pleased by the achievement of
increasing our EBITDA margin above
20% (2017: 17%) as this is one of our
key internal metrics and the first of
our financial aspirations to be met.

Management

197 197
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• Funds under
£5 billion
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Governance
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Revenue per adviser
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Revenue per adviser
£’000

Underlying EBITDA
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Strategic Report

Underlying EBITDA
adjusted for tax
per share
(pence)

Acquisitions
The Company maintains an in-house
acquisitions and integration team
that allows us to undertake multiple
acquisitions and to integrate them
fully into the AFH model. During
the year the Company completed
16 acquisitions with a combined
value of £34 million, including two
acquisitions with a target value in
excess of £5 million (assuming
performance criteria are satisfied).
In addition to the experience of the
advisers who have joined through
these acquisitions we added almost
£1.5 billion to our Funds under
Management as a result of the
combined transactions. It is equally
fulfilling to be able to report that
once again prior-year acquisitions
have traded successfully. The
average deferred pay-out for
those acquisitions reaching a
performance milestone has again
exceeded 90% of the target set at
the time of the transactions, which
as previously noted include growth
expectations.

The acquisition of IFA businesses
during the year again encompassed
retiring IFAs, whose client portfolios
have been transitioned to existing
AFH advisers, as well as larger
organisations whose clients and
advisers have been absorbed into
the AFH model. This approach
allows investments to be retained
on existing platforms and products
where appropriate but enables
clients to move to our costeffective
discretionary
service
where a clear benefit to the client
can be demonstrated. Integration
of acquisitions made during the
year continues to be carried out
successfully and I am pleased to
report that overall the acquisitions
are trading above target.

The market
The year proved to be a difficult one
for financial markets, as investors
grappled with the headwinds of
rising interest rates and growing
tensions over trade. At the beginning
of the year, hopes were high for a
continuation of the synchronised
upswing in the global economy, but
these were soon dashed. Growth
in the US accelerated, fuelled by
the Trump tax cuts. However, most
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of the rest of the world slowed,
as Beijing sought to clamp down
on leverage and rebalance the
Chinese economy, while political
uncertainty and softer external
demand weighed on activity into
Europe.
The withdrawal of the emergency
monetary stimulus put in place
following the financial crisis was
a key focus for investors. Buoyant
domestic demand and a strong
labour market emboldened the
US Federal Reserve to continue
to wind down its holdings of
government bonds and gradually
push up interest rates. In turn,
tighter US monetary policy served
to lift government bond yields,
contributing to periodic bouts of
volatility in global equity markets.
The trade policies of the Trump
White House also unsettled markets
during the period. President
Trump’s first year in office was
characterised by the introduction of
market-friendly policies, including
tax reform and deregulation.
However, moving into his second
year, the focus shifted to trade,
where the president’s protectionist
instincts are more contentious. In
a bid to reduce the US trade deficit
and safeguard American jobs,
President Trump announced levies
on imported steel and aluminium,
and initiated a tariff war with China.
Against this backdrop, global
equity markets struggled. US
equities delivered positive returns,
as a reduction in corporation tax
ushered in double-digit earnings
growth, and the relatively closed
nature of the US economy provided
some insulation from the slowdown
in global trade. However, in most
other regions, including the Eurozone and Japan, equity markets
fell back. Emerging markets
underperformed as concerns over
the Chinese economy grew, and
an appreciation of the US dollar
during the second half of the year
put pressure on economies with
high levels of external debt, notably
Turkey.
In the UK, ongoing uncertainty
regarding Brexit continued to
dampen sentiment. This said, the

fall in UK equity markets was not as
severe as that witnessed in many
other countries. UK large caps were
supported by the depreciation of
the pound during the second half of
the year, which boosted the sterling
value of overseas revenues. In
addition, the recovery in the oil
price helped lift the energy sector.
By contrast, retailers suffered, as
sales shifted online and the World
Cup induced pick-up in spending
over the summer proved fleeting.
The woes of the UK retail sector were
also reflected in the commercial
property market. Demand for
retail property continued to ease,
as a string of high-profile retailers
either went into administration
or announced store closures.
However,
with
manufacturers
benefitting from the competitive
exchange rate, buoyant demand
for industrial property meant that
the UK commercial property sector
as a whole continued to provide
income and capital growth during
the period.
The performance of the UK bond
market was negatively impacted
by hikes in interest rates from the
Bank of England during the year.
Citing low unemployment and
rising domestic inflation pressures
the Bank of England hiked
interest rates by 25 basis points in
November 2017 – the first increase
in 10 years – and followed up with
a further rise in August 2018, taking
the bank’s policy rate to 0.75%. This
increase pushed up yields on shortterm UK government bonds (Gilts)
causing their price to fall back.
The rise in Gilt yields weighed on
sterling corporate bonds, although
the sector did manage to eke out
marginal positive returns.

We create value:
* for staff(employer
of choice),
* for clients(advice and
investment manager of
choice), and
* for investors (positive
investment relationship and
returns)

Strategic Report

Strategic Business Model

Investment (in people,
technology, infrastructure
and through embracing
digitisation)

Governance

Our financial planning-led
wealth management,
delivered through
personal, F2F interactions,
is underpinned by our size,
internal investment and
increased inflow of
new funds

Increased inflow of new
funds leads to growth of
funds under management
Financial statements

We use our size and
financial strength to
negotiate rates on behalf
of clients

Notes to the AGM

Financial planning-led wealth
management, delivered through
personal, face-to-face interactions

The first choice for wealth
management advice in the UK.

Together.
A better future.
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Segmental Review
Financial advisory and
investment management
Financial advisory and the ongoing
investment management of our
client portfolios represent the
core business of AFH. The ongoing
management of our clients’ funds
is driven by their attitude to risk on
the basis of long-term investment,
measured against the equivalent
ARC Private Client Index (“PCI”)
and reported regularly to our
clients providing the opportunity
for them to place our investment
performance into the context of a
range of discretionary investment
managers. During the year revenue
from our initial financial planning
for clients and the ongoing
management of their investments
increased as a result of greater
productivity and the increase in
adviser numbers due to acquisitions
that were made during the year.
The
average
discretionary
client portfolio continues to be
approximately
£200,000
and
based on their risk appetite is
focussed on wealth preservation.
However, for clients with larger
portfolios who wish for a more
traditional stockbroking service,
AFH Private Wealth, with operations
in Bromsgrove and Colwyn Bay,
was established in 2016 and now
manages over £150 million of client
assets.
During the period the Company
continued to invest in the strength
of our investment team with
additional senior appointments
and in January 2018 AFH set up a
series of segregated funds in a costefficient structure for our clients.
During the year seven funds were
established across a range of equity
markets using independent fund
management groups to manage
the portfolio.
As set out opposite, the Company
has a wide geographical coverage
of the mainland UK market.
While our acquisition strategy
does not target specific areas,
rather focussing on the quality
of the business opportunity and
the culture of that business, the
acquisitions completed in the year
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encompass many regions and
enabled us to extend our service
proposition across the UK.
During the year our initial financial
planning fees totalled £12.2 million,
an increase of £2.2 million (23%)
above our 2017 results, reflecting
the increasing client requirements
for financial planning driven by
changing legislation, the changes
to the UK pension market, with its
associated opportunities and risks, as
well as developing lifestyle needs.
Ongoing
management
fees
increased
to
£29.3
million
(2017: £20.6 million), reflecting
the
increased
Funds
under
Management which, as noted
above, grew to £4.4 billion during
the year as a result of net organic
inflows
together
with
assets
attached to acquisitions completed
during the year. This increase was
reflected in the ratio of recurring
income within this division which
rose to 71% (2017: 69%).
Gross margins in our core business
remain at 55%, reflecting the level
of business generated centrally
relative to that self-generated by
our advisers.
The division generated EBITDA of
£10.1 million (2017: £6.6 million),
representing
a
24%
margin
on revenue (2017: 22%), again
demonstrating the benefits of scale
that was highlighted in my last
report.
Protection Broking
Our protection broking division,
established in 2017, performed
strongly
during
the
year,
generating £9.1 million of revenue
at a 45% gross margin (2017: 35%).
The increase was due, in part, to a
move from indemnified to a nonindemnified model with selected
providers under which AFH receives
revenue on a monthly basis, in line
with the premium received by the
providers rather than as an initial
commission, in exchange for an
increased share of the overall
commission.
During the year the division
extended its channels of distribution
to a telephone-based operation
which the directors believe to offer

significant growth opportunity in
the future. Further investment has
been made in this operation after
the year end to scale the business
during 2019.

Capital structure
In assessing its appetite for financial
gearing, the Board considers the
deferred consideration outstanding
on acquisitions as a component
of the Company’s financing
structuring, providing cost effective
and unsecured leverage for the
benefit of our shareholders.
The Company remains free of
secured debt, with the exception
of a mortgage held on the freehold
property acquired in 2015 and
maintains a capital structure
that the Board believes provides
an appropriate level of gearing
through the deferred consideration
outstanding on acquisitions and
through Unsecured Corporate
Bonds. The Company continues to
maintain a net cash position and
all regulated subsidiary companies
reported
significant
margins
above their regulatory and stresstested capital requirements as at
31 October 2018. At the year end
the Company had £28.5 million of
deferred consideration outstanding,
contingent on the achievement of
certain growth targets, together
with £2.9 million of corporate
bonds. Following the year end
£2.1 million of the corporate bonds
were redeemed in accordance with
the relevant Trust Deed.
In December 2017 and October
2018, we concluded equity fundraisings of £17.5 million and
£15 million respectively. I thank
our major institutional investors
for their continuing support and
was pleased to welcome a number
of new institutional investors to
our share register. The funds were
raised to finance the initial cost
of our acquisitions and during
the financial year £16 million was
used for the purchase of sixteen
businesses. A further £7.6 million
has been used for the acquisition of
an additional four businesses, with a
potential value of £19 million since
the year end.

Strategic Report

AFH team goes from strength to strength
AFH advisers

Protection advisors

Governance
Financial statements

Trading in the current year has
continued to follow the trend set
in 2018 with high levels of new
business generated by our advisers
and initial integration of our recent
acquisitions proceeding in line with
expectations. Since the beginning
of the financial year we have
acquired 4 businesses, including
CTL3 which added 26 advisers and
over £530 million of additional
Funds under Management to the
Company.
The turbulent markets since
October 2018 have impacted our
total Funds under Management
but the balanced strategy that we
adopt on behalf of our clients has
mitigated the full effect of the equity
market falls. Our outlook for the
equity markets remains cautious.

The Company retains strong cash
balances in excess of its regulatory
requirements and our increasing
adoption of technology and focus
on digital marketing is generating
new opportunities to deliver organic
growth. The Directors believe that
the demand for a professional
financial planning-led investment
service will continue to grow and
that the scale of AFH will enable
the Company to benefit from the
regulatory and economic change
anticipated in 2019.
While the Company continues
to actively seek high quality
businesses to acquire and enhance
the Company, your Directors
remain focussed on ensuring that
only Earnings per share enhancing
transactions
are
undertaken.
While the commercial benefits of
growth through acquisition are

AFH Financial Group Report and Accounts 2018

clear, the financial model is based
on a suitable arbitrage differential
being maintained though an
effective public equity market. In
view of the current uncertainty in
the public markets, the Directors
believe that the pace of additional
acquisitions will be determined by
the availability of additional equity
funding at appropriate values.
Trading remains strong and in line
with the Board’s expectations and
the activity of the first quarter of
the year underpins the Directors’
confidence for the continued
progress of the Company in the
current year and thereafter in line
with its new aspirational targets.

Alan Hudson
Chief Executive Officer
18 January 2019
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Notes to the AGM

Current year trading

General Information
Principle Risks and Uncertainties
The following section summarises the principal risks and uncertainties that impact both the Company and the
market in which we operate. The Board is responsible for assessing the principal risks and these are monitored on
a regular basis by the Risk Committee under the Chairmanship of the Group Head of Risk.
Against each of the principal risks, consideration is given to the Company’s exposure and the extent to which
the risk can be mitigated. There have been no material changes in the principal risks to the Company during the
year. However, political uncertainties caused by the continuing Brexit negotiations and the minority government
in Westminster have, in the opinion of the Risk Committee, increased the likelihood and impact of regulatory,
legislative and tax changes to the financial services sector and the economy.
The Board considers risk within four categories: – Conduct, Credit, Market and Operational. The Company’s
overall risk management programme seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Company’s financial
performance and its reputation arising from these risk areas.
The Key financial and non financial risks identified by the Board and the measures taken to mitigate their impact
are:Risks and impacts

How we monitor and manage the risk

Cyber Risk

The failure or compromise of
an IT system, whether internal
or outsourced, could lead
to disruption of services to
clients, reputational damage
and a negative impact on
profitability.

The Company seeks to minimise this risk through close
working relationships with our outsourced suppliers
supported by appropriate Service Level Agreements against
which performance is monitored. Business continuity
arrangements are in place for our major technical services,
many of which have been hosted in a cloud environment
since 2016. We continue to monitor and enhance our
cyber security capability in line with the increasing threat
and work with third party partners to test and implement
security protocols.

Reduced market
yield risk

In an environment where
market
forecasters
are
projecting lower yields in the
future the Company may fail
to deliver past levels of return
to our clients.

Our business model is based on providing above average
market returns whilst reducing the cost of investment for
our clients thereby increasing the net yield from their
portfolios. The Investment committee includes external
professionals who work with our research analysts to
construct and manage portfolios appropriate to the risk and
financial planning needs of our clients. Our discretionary
clients’ portfolios are managed on an ongoing basis to react
to short term market fluctuations within the investment
strategy set out by the Investment Committee.

Adviser
recruitment and
retention risk

Adviser
recruitment
and
retention is an area of
ongoing
focus
for
the
Company.

We employ a number of specialist managers within our
Business Development and T&C teams to recruit and
manage high quality advisers who adhere to the Company’s
client centric culture. AFH generated clients are matched to
advisers based on relevant expertise and location to cement
both clients and advisers within the Company community
whilst our commercial structure encourages the retention
of advisers.

Regulatory,
legislative and
tax risk

Regulatory, legislative or tax
changes.

The risk of regulatory, legislative or tax changes cannot
be easily mitigated. However, we actively engage with
our regulators in an open and constructive manner. The
Company employs appropriate expertise within the Risk and
Technical teams to maintain an awareness of impending
changes and where appropriate engages with independent
experts to implement suitable processes. Internal
management is augmented by scheduled external audits of
our compliance function and processes. Our governance
structure, implemented through committees and managed
internally seeks to ensure that we remain compliant with
evolving regulations.
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Change in
the year

How we monitor and manage the risk
The acquisitive nature of
our business risks importing
advice liabilities and people
into the Company who do
not share our culture or
standards.

The Company employs a full time acquisitions team who
are responsible for Due Diligence, contractual negotiations
and integration of all acquisitions under the ultimate
direction of the Chief Executive Officer. The Company
adopt standard process questionnaires and contracts for
acquisitions and obtain full indemnities from each of the
vendors in respect of any financial advice liability relating
to the period before acquisition. The earn out model used
by the Company provides a cash asset during the initial
two years post acquisition against which any undisclosed
liabilities can be offset. The cultural fit of vendors and their
client base is examined during due diligence and formal
induction courses are mandatory for joining advisers prior
to completion of the acquisition.

Interest rate and
operating cash
flow risks

There is a risk of higher
interest and / or delay in cash
receipts.

The Company manages its treasury function on a centralised
basis. The main sources of revenue and operating cash flows
are substantially independent of changes in market interest
rates. The Company has significant interest-bearing assets
on which it seeks to obtain a commercial rate of return
from AA or above rated UK institutions whilst not having a
material adverse effect on cash flow. There are no significant
variable rate interest-bearing liabilities. The Board monitors
both its regulatory requirements and cash flow forecasts on
a regular basis and works with its professional advisers to
ensure that appropriate funding is in place at all times.

Governance

Acquisitive risk

Change in
the year

Financial statements

It remains the Company strategy to ensure that sufficient
equity funding has been raised to finance both the initial
consideration and any additional cash requirement that
could arise through deferred consideration relating to that
acquisition in advance of any acquisition being completed.
Credit risk arises from cash
and cash equivalents and
deposits with banks and
financial institutions, as well
as commercial transactions.

Credit risk is managed on a centralised basis. Individual
risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in
accordance with limits set by the Board. The utilisation of
credit limits is regularly monitored. The Company receives
the majority of its income directly from blue chip financial
institutions in accordance with instructions placed by its
clients thereby minimising the risk of incurring bad debts.

Liquidity risk

Prudent
liquidity
risk
management
implies
maintaining sufficient cash
and marketable securities,
the availability of funding and
the ability to close out market
positions.

The Company maintains flexibility by maintaining significant
headroom in its cash position. Management monitors
forecasts of the Company’s liquidity on the basis of
expected cash flows. This is carried out in accordance with
recommended accounting practice and limits set by the
Company. The Board reviews the Company’s liquidity at its
monthly meetings.

Capital risk

The Company’s objectives
when managing capital are
to safeguard its ability to
continue as a going concern
in order to provide returns for
shareholders and to maintain
an
appropriate
capital
structure to reduce the cost
of capital.

The Company monitors capital by maintaining or adjusting
the capital structure by managing the level of dividends
paid to shareholders, issuing new shares and unsecured
securities or selling assets to maintain financial resources.
The structure used by the Company to acquire businesses
and business assets includes a significant level of unsecured
debt that becomes payable on the achievement of certain
revenue and profit targets. The capital employed by
the Company is composed of equity attributable to the
shareholders; long term unsecured corporate bonds, as
detailed in the Statement of Changes in Equity together with
the deferred liabilities arising of acquisitions.

AFH Financial Group Report and Accounts 2018
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Risks and impacts
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Key performance indicators
The directors consider the key financial performance indicators (“KPIs”) for the Company are as follows:
KPI

Revenue
Total income from all revenue
streams

Link to Strategy

o Grow revenue through
acquisition to expand
national footprint and
buying power
o Generate new and retain
existing clients
o Increase productivity of
advisers

Gross margin
Revenue generated by the
Company after fees paid to its
independent financial advisors
and other direct costs of sale

o Profitability of advisory and
investment services before
central cost

Underlying EBITDA margin
Profit generated from the
Company’s operating activities
before any financing costs,
taxation, non cash share
based payments, depreciation
and amortisation as a
proportion of revenue

o One of three strategic
aspirations to generate
increased margins through
scale and cost efficiencies
o Measure of cash generated
by the business

Adjusted profit after tax
Profit after taxation, but
excluding non cash share based
payments, and amortisation of
intangible assets

o Cash generation of the
business

Adjusted EPS
Total comprehensive income
for the year, net of tax,
attributable to equity holders of
the Company, adjusted to add
back acquisition costs expensed
under IFRS 3 (Revised) and
the amortisation of intangible
assets, divided by the number of
ordinary shares in issue

o Return generated for
shareholders

Dividend per share

o Progressive dividend policy

Performance in 2018 Progress
2015

£24.1m
£33.6m

2017
2018

£50.7m

2015

53%

2016

54%

2017

53%

2018

54%

2015

15%

2017

17%

2018

2015
2016
2017

21%

2015

£2.9m
£4.6m
£8.5m

o Increased by 34% to
22.7p

9.8p
11.6p

2017

17.0p

2018

2015

2017
2018

o Increased to 54% in
line with strategy after
absorbing the lower
margin Protection
division

o Increase by 85% to
£8.5m

£2.2m

2018

2016

o Total revenue
increased by 51%
o Recurring income
increased to £30.3m
o Average adviser
revenue grew to £233k

o Met 3 to 5 year
aspiration early
o Increased margin from
17% to above 20%

14%

2016

2016
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£21.0m

2016

22.7p

2.25p
3p
4p

o Proposed increase of
50% following 33%
increase in prior year
proposed 6p

Advice Quality Reviews – review of the suitability of financial planning and investment advice provided to our
client base;

•

File Quality – measuring the quality and integrity of documentation ensuring that it provides sufficient defence
against future financial and regulatory scrutiny and represents the quality of advice provided;

•

Complaints – measuring the volume of regulated advice and service complaints received within any given
period;

•

TCF Surveys – qualitative information sought from clients who engage in new/repeat advice process; and

•

Breaches – measuring process failures throughout the group and thematic evidence produced to highlight
weaknesses for action.

Directors during the financial year
John Wheatley, Alan Hudson, Paul Wright, Susan Lewis, Mark Chambers, Austin Broad and Alexis Larvin were
directors of the Company throughout the financial year.

Governance

•

Strategic Report

In addition the directors consider the non financial key performance indicators (“KPIs”) for the Company, which
are reviewed on a monthly basis, are as follows:

Directors’ attendance at Board and Board Committee meetings
Board Meetings

Audit Committee

Remuneration
Committee

2/2
2/2
2/2
2/2
2/2
2/2
2/2

12/12
12/12
12/12
12/12
12/12
12/12
11/12

2/2
2/2
2/2
2/2
2/2
N/a
N/a

1/1
1/1
1/1
1/1
N/A
N/A
N/A

J Wheatley
S Lewis
M Chambers
A Hudson
P Wright
A Larvin
A Broad

Financial statements

Strategy Meetings

Director’s report
Some strategic considerations are documented within the Director’s Report on pages 22-23.

Full disclosure of information

Approved by the board

Mr J Wheatley
Chairman
18 January 2019

AFH Financial Group Report and Accounts 2018
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Each of the Directors at the time of this report confirm that so far as they are aware, there is no relevant audit
information of which the company’s auditor is unaware and he / she has taken all appropriate steps to make
himself / herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the company’s auditor is aware of
that information.

Board of Directors

John Wheatley

Alan Hudson

Paul Wright

Non Executive Chairman

Chief Executive Officer

Chief Financial Officer

Appointment date
2014

Appointment date
2011

Appointment date
2014

Experience
Partner KPMG

Experience
Founded AFH in 1991.

Experience
Qualified KPMG

Partner Pearson Price
Wheatley

Target Life

Exco International Plc, Rolfe
& Nolan Plc; Workplace
International Plc

Skills brought to the board
Financial, Governance in
Financial services and other
sectors

Skills brought to the board
Chartered Financial Planner,

Skills brought to the board
Financial and M&A in UK and
international markets. Main
market and AIM experience

Sector experience
Various including Financial
Services

Sector experience
Financial Services

Sector experience
Financial Services,
Technology, Leisure

Committee membership
Audit (chairman)

Committee membership
Remuneration

Committee membership
Risk

Remuneration

Investment

Various NED appointments

Innovation and
entrepreneurship

Risk
Number of Board meetings/
Strategy meetings attended
12 /2
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Number of Board meetings/
Strategy meetings attended
12 /2

Number of Board meetings/
Strategy meetings attended
12 /2

Strategic Report
Governance

Austin Broad

Sue Lewis

Mark Chambers

Group Head of Risk

Group Head of Advice

NED

NED

Appointment date
2015

Appointment date
2015

Appointment date
2014

Appointment date
2014

Experience
Over 10 years regulatory
experience. CF10 status
under FCA.

Experience
Independent Financial
Adviser AFH

Experience
Former senior partner at,
and now consultant to,
Eversheds Sutherland

Experience
Head of Institutional Sales
and Head of Global Banking
Sales Man Group Plc

Nationwide Building Society

Daiwa Europe Limited
County Nat West Securities
Limited
Skills brought to the board
Financial Planning and
Technical

Skills brought to the board
Legal and M&A

Skills brought to the board
Sales and Investment

Sector experience
Financial Services

Sector experience
Financial Services

Sector experience
Various including Financial
Services

Sector experience
Financial Services

Committee membership
Risk (chairman)

Committee membership
Investment

Committee membership
Remuneration (chairman)

Committee membership
Audit

Risk

Audit

Remuneration

Notes to the AGM

Skills brought to the board
Compliance and Risk

Investment
Number of Board meetings/
Strategy meetings attended
12 /2

Number of Board meetings/
Strategy meetings attended
11 /2

AFH Financial Group Report and Accounts 2018

Number of Board meetings/
Strategy meetings attended
12 /2

Financial statements

Alexis Larvin

Number of Board meetings/
Strategy meetings attended
12 /2
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Report of the Remuneration Committee for the year ended 31 October 2018

annual remuneration package is
undertaken by the Committee.

Executive Directors’
contracts

The remuneration of the NonExecutive Directors is determined
by the Board of Directors.

Executive directors are employed
under service contracts requiring
a maximum of 12 months’ notice by
the company.

The following comprises the
components of the remuneration
of all Executive Directors:

Salary
Directors’ remuneration
report
The Remuneration Committee
meets at least once a year to
review the remuneration of the
Executive Directors and approve
policies for remuneration of other
senior executives. The Committee
also monitors performance and
approves the payment of all
performance related bonuses and
administers the operation of the
share option and share incentive
schemes established by the
Company.
The Committee is chaired by Susan
Lewis and comprises Susan Lewis,
John Wheatley, Mark Chambers
and Alan Hudson.
Alan Hudson does not participate in
any discussions in which he has an
interest.

Introduction
This Report describes how the
Board has voluntarily applied the
Principles of Good Governance
relating to Director’s remuneration.
The report also provides the
information required to be reported
on Directors’ remuneration under
AIM Rule 19.

Remuneration policy
The
policy
is
to
provide
remuneration
packages
for
executive directors which aim
to attract and retain high quality
executives capable of achieving
the Group’s objectives and thereby
enhance shareholder value. The
performance measurement of
the Executive Directors and key
members of senior management
and the determination of their
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The base salaries of the executive
directors are set at levels
considered to be appropriate when
they enter into service agreements
with the Company. The base salaries
are reviewed by the Remuneration
Committee annually and any
increases are awarded having
regard to performance and salary
levels in comparable organisations.

Annual performance
related payments
It is the policy of the Company to
operate bonus arrangements for
the Executive Directors which are
performance related, the primary
measures being the achievement
of financial targets and personal
performance.

Benefits in kind
A range of taxable benefits are
available to Executive Directors.
These benefits primarily comprise
the provision of company pension
contribution, life assurance and
private medical insurance.

Share option schemes
The Company has established
approved and unapproved share
option schemes, in which the
executive directors may participate.
Details are set out in note 17 to
these financial statements.

Pension arrangements
The group pays a defined
contribution to the pension scheme
of certain executive directors.
The individual pension schemes
are private and their assets are
held separately from those of the
Company.

Non-Executive Directors’
contracts
The Chairman and the nonexecutive directors each receive
a fee for their services under
appointment letters which are
for an initial period of 12 months
and thereafter terminable by 3
months’ notice from either party.
The fee is approved by the Board,
mindful of the time commitment
and responsibilities of their roles
and of current market rates for
comparable organisations and
appointments. The non-executive
directors and the Chairman are
reimbursed for travelling and other
minor expenses incurred.

Executive Directors
A Hudson
P Wright
A Broad
A Larvin

Bonus

Adviser Fees

Pension
contributions

Share based
payments

Total
2018

Total
2017

483,000
210,000
120,000
130,000

150,000
75,000
50,000
50,000

-

6,000
6,500

25,890
10,099
6,999
7,502

658,890
295,099
182,999
194,002

544,569
207,514
130,159
141,434

50,000
40,000
40,000

-

-

-

1,321
881
881

51,321
40,881
40,881

43,796
30,881
33,355

Governance

Non-executive Directors
J Wheatley
M Chambers
S Lewis

Salary

Strategic Report

Directors’ emoluments

Directors’ interests
Directors’ beneficial interest in the Ordinary shares of the Company (which included those of their families) were
as follows:
Shares held at
1 Nov 2017

Share options held at
1 Nov 2017

Movements
during the year

Total at
31 Oct 2018

J Wheatley
A Hudson
P Wright
M Chambers
S Lewis
A Broad
A Larvin

233,121
6,555,700
35,000
25,000
15,000
-

58,585
350,000
342,000
10,000
35,000
162,420
177,420

275,000
90,000
8,978
55,000
60,000

291,706
7,180,700
467,000
43,978
35,000
232,420
237,420

Financial statements

Director:

Note:
Directors’ shareholdings include any shareholdings of trusts or family members deemed to be connected persons.

The mid-market price of the shares at 31 October 2018 was 376p. The range during the year was 247.5p to 424p.
Notes to the AGM
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Report of the Remuneration Committee for the year ended 31 October 2018

Interest in options
The Company operates Share Option Plans by which the Executive Directors and other senior executives are able
to subscribe for ordinary shares in the Company. The interests of the directors were as follows:
Date granted

No. of ordinary shares

Exercise price

Earliest date exercisable

Latest date
exercisable

22 June 2011
1 August 2012
30 June 2014
26 January 2016

13,585
5,000
25,000
15,000

37p
100p
140p
171.5p

22 June 2014
1 August 2015
30 June 2017
26 January 2019

21 June 2021
31 July 2022
29 June 2024
25 January 2026

A Hudson

30 June 2014
15 February 2016
2 February 2017
16 November 2017
10 October 2018

150,000
100,000
100,000
125,000
150,000

140p
180p
173p
250p
394p

30 June 2017
15 February 2019
2 February 2020
16 November 2020
10 October 2021

29 June 2024
14 February 2026
1 February 2027
15 November 2027
9 October 2028

P Wright

13 January 2014
30 June 2014
21 July 2014
15 February 2016
2 February 2017
16 November 2017
10 October 2018

125,000
56,973
68,027
60,000
32,000
40,000
50,000

120p
140p
147p
180p
173p
250p
394p

13 January 2017
30 June 2017
21 July 2017
15 February 2019
2 February 2020
16 November 2020
10 October 2021

12 January 2024
29 June 2024
20 July 2024
14 February 2026
1 February 2027
15 November 2027
9 October 2028

S Lewis

30 June 2014
26 January 2016

25,000
10,000

140p
171.5p

30 June 2017
26 January 2019

29 June 2024
25 January 2026

M Chambers

26 January 2016

10,000

171.5p

26 January 2019

25 January 2026

A Broad

22 June 2011
1 August 2012
13 January 2014
1 November 2014
15 February 2016
2 February 2017
16 November 2017
10 October 2018

40,755
10,000
35,000
665
60,000
16,000
20,000
35,000

37p
100p
120p
150.5p
180p
173p
250p
394p

22 June 2015
1 August 2016
13 January 2017
1 November 2017
15 February 2019
2 February 2020
16 November 2020
10 October 2021

21 June 2021
31 July 2022
12 January 2024
31 October 2024
14 February 2026
1 February 2027
15 November 2027
9 October 2028

A Larvin

22 June 2011
1 August 2012
13 January 2014
1 November 2014
15 February 2016
2 February 2017
16 November 2017
10 October 2018

40,755
10,000
50,000
665
60,000
16,000
25,000
35,000

37p
100p
120p
150.5p
180p
173p
250p
394p

22 June 2015
1 August 2016
13 January 2017
1 November 2017
15 February 2019
2 February 2020
16 November 2020
10 October 2021

21 June 2021
31 July 2022
12 January 2024
31 October 2024
14 February 2026
1 February 2027
15 November 2027
9 October 2028

J Wheatley
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Any shares that do not meet the performance criteria
are cancelled after three years.
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No Director had any other beneficial interest at the
year end in the shares of any other Group Company.
This report was approved by the Board of Directors on
18 January 2019 and signed on its behalf by:

Strategic Report

During the year A Hudson purchased 275 B shares in
AFH Group Limited for £9,166 under a Group growth
share scheme. These shares can be converted into
275,000 equity share options after three years subject to
certain performance conditions and have been shown
as movements during the year in the table above. P
Wright, purchased 90 B shares in AFH Group Limited
for £3,000 under a Group growth share scheme. These
shares can each be converted into 90,000 equity share
options after three years subject to certain performance
conditions and have been shown as movements during
the year in the table above. A Broad purchased 55 B
shares in AFH Group Limited for £1,833 under a Group
growth share scheme. These shares can each be
converted into 55,000 equity share options after three
years subject to certain performance conditions and
have been shown as movements during the year in
the table above. A Larvin purchased 60 B shares in AFH
Group Limited for £2,000 under a Group growth share
scheme. These shares can each be converted into
60,000 equity share options after three years subject to
certain performance conditions and have been shown
as movements during the year in the table above.

Susan Lewis
Chairman
Remuneration Committee
18 January 2019
Governance
Financial statements
Notes to the AGM
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Directors’ Report for the year ended 31 October 2018

The directors present their report
and financial statements for the
year ended 31 October 2018.

Principal activities
The principal activity of the
Company continued to be that of
independent financial advisers and
investment managers.

Results and dividends
The consolidated statement of
comprehensive income for the
year is set out on page 28.
The amount that the directors
recommend should be paid out by
way of dividends has been disclosed
in the Strategic Report on page 5.

Future developments
The Company continues to seek
high quality IFA and related
financial sector businesses of all
sizes that will embrace the AFH
culture of providing exceptional
value to our growing client base
while providing attractive returns
to our shareholders.
The Company continues to invest
in its digital footprint to improve
the service to both clients and AFH
advisers whilst enabling greater
efficiency in its administration. This
digitalisation of both the advice and
investment service is also expected
to open new market channels to
future clients who embrace digital
and mobile technology.

Directors
The following directors have held
office since 1 November 2017:
Mr A Hudson
Mr J Wheatley
Mr P Wright
Mrs S Lewis
Mr M Chambers
Mr A Broad
Mrs A Larvin
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Directors’ indemnities
The company has made qualifying
third party indemnity provisions for
the benefit of its directors which
were made during the year and
remain in force at the date of this
report.

Evaluating Board
Performance
At the current stage of the
Company’s
development,
assessment
of
the
Board’s
performance and that of its
committees will be undertaken by
the Board as a whole, led by the
Company’s Chairman. Although the
Company has no formal procedure
for measuring the effectiveness
of the Board, the Board will be
carefully reviewing its effectiveness
and the need to refresh its
membership by reference to
financial performance, adherence
to budgets and the overall growth
of the Company and taking account
of the opinions and insights of
its auditors, Nominated Adviser,
broker, legal and other advisers.
The method of assessing Board
effectiveness and performance will
be reviewed on a continuing basis.

Matters covered in the
Strategic Report and
Financial Statements
As permitted by paragraph 1A
of schedule 7 to the Large and
Medium Sized Companies and
Groups (Accounts and Reports)
Regulations 2008 certain matters
which are required to be disclosed
in the Directors Report have been
omitted as they are included in the
Strategic Report on pages 12-15 and
in notes 22 and 24 of the Financial
Statements. These matters relate
to principal risks and uncertainties
which have been disclosed in the
Strategic Report, Financial Risk
Management which has been
disclosed in note 22, and Events
subsequent to the Statement of
Financial Position which has been
disclosed in note 24.

Corporate Governance
Statement
The
Corporate
Governance
Statement is published on our
external website.

Disabled employees
The
company
gives
full
consideration
to
applications
for employment from disabled
persons where the candidate’s
particular aptitudes and abilities
are consistent with adequately
meeting the requirements of the
job. Opportunities are available
to
disabled
employees
for
training, career development and
promotion.
Where existing employees become
disabled, it is the Company’s policy
to provide continuing employment
wherever practicable in the same
or an alternative position and to
provide appropriate training to
achieve this aim.

Employee consultation
The company involves employees
in the running of the business
through a senior management
team that works closely with
management and staff members.
Employees are involved in an
Employee forum where they can
contribute ideas towards ways to
improve the business, staff benefits
and the working environment.
In line with government legislations
the company offers a group wide
pension scheme, where staff have
the option to opt out if they wish.

Auditors
A resolution proposing that Mazars
LLP be reappointed as auditors
of the Company will be put to the
members at the Annual General
Meeting.

The directors are responsible for
preparing the Strategic Report,
Directors’ Report and the financial
statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations.

Governance

Company
law
requires
the
directors to prepare financial
statements for each financial year.
Under that law the directors have
elected to prepare the financial
statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by
the European Union and applicable
law. Under company law the
directors must not approve the
financial statements unless they
are satisfied that they give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs
of the company and of the profit or
loss of the company for that period.

The directors are responsible for
keeping adequate accounting
records that are sufficient to
show and explain the company’s
transactions and disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the company
and enable them to ensure that the
financial statements comply with
the Companies Act 2006. They are
also responsible for safeguarding
the assets of the company and
hence for taking reasonable steps
for the prevention and detection of
fraud and other irregularities.

Strategic Report

Directors’ responsibilities
statement

On behalf of the board

Anne-Marie Brown
18 January 2019

select suitable accounting
policies and then apply them
consistently;

•

make
judgments
and
accounting estimates that are
reasonable and prudent;

•

state whether IFRS as adopted
by the European Union have
been followed subject to any
material departures disclosed
and explained in the financial
statements;

•

provide additional disclosures
when
compliance
with
specific requirements in IFRS
is insufficient to enable users
to understand the impact of
particular transactions, other
events and conditions on the
entity’s financial position and
financial performance; and

•

prepare
the
financial
statements on the going
concern basis unless it is
inappropriate to presume that
the company will continue in
business.

AFH Financial Group Report and Accounts 2018

Notes to the AGM

•

Financial statement

In preparing these financial
statements, the directors are
required to:
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AFH Financial Group Plc

Independent auditor’s report to the members of AFH Financial Group Plc

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of AFH
Financial Group Plc (the ‘parent company’) and its
subsidiaries (the ‘group’) for the year ended 31 October
2018 which comprise the Consolidated Statement
of Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated and
Parent Company Statements of Financial Position,
the Consolidated and Parent Company Statements of
Changes in Equity, the Consolidated Statement of Cash
Flows and notes to the financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies. The
financial reporting framework that has been applied
in their preparation is applicable law and International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the
European Union and, as regards the parent company
financial statements, as applied in accordance with the
provisions of the Companies Act 2006.
In our opinion:
•

the financial statements give a true and fair view
of the state of the group’s and of the parent
company’s affairs as at 31 October 2018 and of the
group’s profit for the year then ended;

•

the group financial statements have been properly
prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by
the European Union;

•

the parent company financial statements have
been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs
as adopted by the European Union and as applied in
accordance with the provisions of the Companies
Act 2006; and

•

the financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with the requirements of the
Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK))
and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the
company in accordance with the ethical requirements
that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements
in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, as
applied to listed entities and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following
matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to
report to you where:
•

24

the directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial
statements is not appropriate; or

•

the directors have not disclosed in the financial
statements any identified material uncertainties
that may cast significant doubt about the group’s or
the parent company’s ability to continue to adopt
the going concern basis of accounting for a period
of at least twelve months from the date when the
financial statements are authorised for issue.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the financial statements of the current
period and include the most significant assessed risks
of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud)
we identified, including those which had the greatest
effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of
resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the
engagement team. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Revenue Recognition
Due to the probable high significance of revenue
to any user of the AFH Financial Group Plc financial
statements, recognition of revenue and accurate cut
off is considered to be a key audit matter.

Our response
Our procedures over revenue recognition included,
but were not limited to:
•

Documentation and critical assessment of revenue
recognitions and year-end revenue cut off
procedures to ensure that these are appropriate.

•

Walking through the key controls pertaining to the
recognition of revenue.

•

Testing in detail samples from the underlying data
including checking that these were consistent with
third party evidence.

•

Reviewed and reconciling cash receipts, both
during the year and post year end, to the reported
revenue balance, specifically addressing the cut
off risk.

•

Reviewing the procedures for setting up new
clients and a detailed review of key reconciliations
and any accounting adjustments triggered by this
exercise.

No material misstatements were identified as a result
of the audit procedures performed.

Accounting for acquisitions and
impairment assessment
As a highly acquisitive business, accounting for
acquisitions (both business combinations and asset
acquisitions) made during the current and prior periods

Management are required to assess whether an
acquisition falls to be accounted for as a business
combination or as an asset acquisition. Key to this
assessment is determining whether what has been
acquired forms a business as defined by IFRS 3. For
business combinations management are required to
assess the fair value of the assets (including intangible
assets) and liabilities acquired

Based on our professional judgement the level of
overall materiality we set for the financial statements of
the group is £700,000. Materiality has been determined
with reference to a benchmark of Profit before tax, of
which it represents 9%.
We used Profit before tax to calculate our materiality
as, in our view, this is the most relevant measure of the
underlying financial performance of the company.
We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would
report to the Committee all audit differences in excess
of £9,400 as well as differences below that threshold
that, in our review, warranted reporting on qualitative
grounds. We also report to the Audit Committee on
disclosure matters that we identified during the course
of assessing the overall presentation of the financial
statements.

Our response

For the company we assessed materiality based on
total assets, with a level of £350,000.

Our procedures in relation acquisition accounting and
impairment assessment included, but were not limited
to:

An overview of the scope of our audit

Assessing managements consideration of the
allocation between business combinations and
asset purchases.

•

Reviewing in in detail the assessments made
by management in respect of the accounting
treatment applied to acquisitions made during the
year, with a particular focus on the management
judgements applied and the identification of
acquired intangible assets.

•

Reviewing the level of deferred contingent
consideration
assessed
by
management
(including any adjustments required to contingent
consideration relating to acquisitions from prior
periods).

•

Reviewing in detail management’s calculations of
forecast performance and comparison to historic
data

•

Assessing the appropriateness of all key
assumptions adopted such as the discount rate

•

Corroborating supporting calculations
commentary to other evidence.

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality
and assessed the risk of material misstatement in
the financial statements. In particular, we looked at
where the directors made subjective judgements
such as making assumptions on significant accounting
estimates.
We gained an understanding of the legal and regulatory
framework applicable to the group and company, the
structure of the group and the parent company and
the industry in which it operates. We considered the
risk of acts by the company which were contrary to the
applicable laws and regulations including fraud. We
designed our audit procedures to respond to those
identified risks, including non-compliance with laws
and regulations (irregularities) that are material to the
financial statements.
We focused on laws and regulations that could give rise
to a material misstatement in the financial statements,
including, but not limited to, the Companies Act 2006.

Our application of materiality

We tailored the scope of our group audit to ensure
that we performed sufficient work to be able to give an
opinion on the financial statements as a whole. We used
the outputs of a risk assessment, our understanding of
the parent company and group’s, accounting processes
and controls and its environment and considered
qualitative factors in order to ensure that we obtained
sufficient coverage across all financial statement line
items.

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application
of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds
for materiality. These, together with qualitative

Our tests included, but were not limited to, obtaining
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements sufficient to give reasonable
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and

No material misstatements were identified as a result
of the audit procedures performed.

Notes to the AGM

•

Financial statement

Intangible assets, including goodwill and acquired
client portfolios, are is the most significant assets held
on the Statement of Financial Position. Impairment
must be considered on an annual basis which requires
management to exercise judgement in respect of
future cashflows and the application of an appropriate
discount rate

Governance

Many of the acquisitions have a significant element
of deferred contingent consideration. Management
are required to assess the fair value of this deferred
consideration, including the impact of discounting to
allow for the time value of money.

considerations, helped us to determine the scope of
our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit
procedures on the individual financial statement line
items and disclosures and in evaluating the effect of
misstatements, both individually and on the financial
statements as a whole.

Strategic Report

is an area that has the potential to have a significant
impact on the results for the year.

Independent auditor’s report to the members of AFH Financial Group Plc
(continued)

assurance that the financial statements are free from
material misstatement, whether caused by irregularities
including fraud or error, review of minutes of directors’
meetings in the year and enquiries of management. As
a result of our procedures, we did not identify any Key
Audit Matters relating to irregularities, including fraud.

Opinions on other matters prescribed
by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the
course of the audit:
•

The risks of material misstatement that had the greatest
effect on our audit, including the allocation of our
resources and effort, are discussed under “Key audit
matters” within this report.

the information given in the Strategic Report and
the Directors’ Report for the financial year for
which the financial statements are prepared is
consistent with the financial statements; and

•

Our group audit scope included an audit of the group
and parent financial statements of AFH Financial Group
Plc. Based on our risk assessment, the following entities
within the group were subject to full scope audit and
was performed by the group audit team:

the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report
have been prepared in accordance with applicable
legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to
report by exception

•

AFH Financial Group Plc

•

AFH Protection Group Limited

•

Eunisure Limited

•

AFH Home & Protect Limited

•

AFH Group Limited

•

AFH Independent Financial Services Limited

We have nothing to report in respect of the following
matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

•

AFH Private Wealth Management Limited

•

adequate accounting records have not been kept
by the parent company, or returns adequate for
our audit have not been received from branches
not visited by us; or

•

the parent company financial statements are not
in agreement with the accounting records and
returns; or

•

certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration
specified by law are not made; or

•

we have not received all the information and
explanations we require for our audit.

At the parent level we also tested the consolidation
process and carried out analytical procedures to
confirm our conclusion that there were no significant
risks of material misstatement of the aggregated
financial information.

Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, other than the financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the
other information and, except to the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If we identify
such material inconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements, we are required to determine whether
there is a material misstatement in the financial
statements or a material misstatement of the other
information. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that
fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
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In light of the knowledge and understanding of the
group and the parent company and its environment
obtained in the course of the audit, we have not
identified material misstatements in the Strategic
Report or the Directors’ Report.

Responsibilities of Directors
As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities
statement set out on page 21, the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements and for being satisfied that they give a
true and fair view, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the group’s and the
parent company’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Strategic Report

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the financial statements

Governance

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the
audit of the financial statements is located on the
Financial Reporting Council’s website at www.frc.org.
uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part
of our auditor’s report.

Use of the audit report
Financial statement

This report is made solely to the company’s members
as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of
the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been
undertaken so that we might state to the company’s
members those matters we are required to state to
them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept
or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
company and the company’s members as a body for
our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we
have formed.

Notes to the AGM

Stephen Eames (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of Mazars LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor
45 Church Street,
Birmingham
B3 2RT

18 January 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 October 2018

Note

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2

50,664

33,639

Cost of sales

(23,099)

(15,672)

Gross profit

27,565

17,967

Administrative expenses before amortisation and
depreciation and share based payments expenses

(17,126)

(12,320)

Underlying EBITDA

10,439

5,647

Amortisation and Depreciation

(2,415)

(1,778)

(88)

(136)

Revenue

Non cash share based payments
Operating profit

3

7,936

3,733

Finance income

4

101

19

Finance costs

4

(250)

(245)

7,787

3,507

(1,833)

(444)

5,954

3,063

–

–

5,954

3,063

Profit before tax
Income tax expense

6

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the parent
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to
owners of the parent
Earnings per share (in pence)
Basic

17

16.0

11.2

Diluted

17

14.6

10.3

Basic

17

22.7

17.0

Diluted

17

20.7

15.6

Underlying EBITDA adjusted for tax per share (in pence)

All results derive from continuing operations.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 October 2018

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

8

74,928

38,930

Assets
Non-current assets
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment

1,230

1,195

10

1

1

Deferred tax asset

15

30

28

76,189

40,154

13,630

6,015

Current assets
Trade and other receivables

12

Cash and cash equivalents
Total assets

21,543

9,275

35,173

15,290

111,362

55,444

18,727

11,502

1,049

468

Governance

9

Investments

Strategic Report

Note

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

14

Provisions

16

1,570

–

Financial liabilities – Borrowings

13

2,221

77

23,567

12,047

11,606

3,243

14

17,138

6,736

Financial liabilities – Borrowings

13

1,067

3,281

Provisions

16

170

49

18,375

10,066

Total liabilities

41,942

22,113

Net assets

69,420

33,331

Net current assets

Financial statement

Current tax liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables

Share capital

17

4,198

3,058

Share premium account

18

54,641

24,224

Merger reserve

18

(540)

(540)

Share-based payment reserve

18

718

630

Retained earnings

10,403

5,959

Total Shareholders’ equity

69,420

33,331

Approved by the Board of Directors on 18 January 2019

Mr P K Wright
Director
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Shareholders’ equity

Company Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 October 2018

Note

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

10

1,972

2,022

1,972

2,022

48,559

27,153

16,276

4,078

64,835

31,231

66,807

33,253

Assets
Non-current assets
Investments
Current assets
Trade and other receivables

12

Cash and cash equivalents
Total assets
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

14

962

774

Financial liabilities – Borrowings

13

2,142

–

Net current assets

3,104

774

61,731

30,457

752

2,894

Non-current liabilities
Financial liabilities – Borrowings

13

Total liabilities
Net assets

3,856

3,668

62,951

29,585

Shareholders’ equity
Share capital

17

4,198

3,058

Share premium account

18

54,641

24,224

Share-based payment reserve

18

718

630

3,394

1,673

62,951

29,585

Retained earnings
Total Shareholders’ equity
The Company Profit for the year was £3,230,202 (2017: £1,031,745)
Approved by the Board of Directors on 18 January 2019

Mr P K Wright
Director
Company Number - 07638831
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Statement of Changes in Equity
As at 31 October 2018

Retained
earnings
£’000

Total
£’000

494

3,797

20,153

–

–

3,063

3,063

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

3,063

3,063

645

10,235

–

–

–

10,880

Share based payment cost – note 17

–

–

–

136

–

136

Dividend

–

–

–

–

3,058

24,224

Share
premium
£’000

Merger
reserve
£’000

2,413

13,989

(540)

Profit for the year

–

–

Other comprehensive income

–

Total comprehensive income

Balance at 1 November 2016

Issue of share capital (net of Issue costs)

Balance at 31 October 2017

(540)

(901)

(901)

630

5,959

33,331

–

–

–

–

5,954

5,954

–

–

–

–

–

–

Total comprehensive income

–

–

–

–

5,954

5,954

1,140

30,417

–

–

–

31,557

Share based payment cost – note 17

–

–

–

88

–

88

Dividend

–

–

–

–

4,198

54,641

(540)

Share
capital
£’000

Share
premium
£’000

Share-based
payment reserve
£’000

Retained
earnings
£’000

Total
£’000

2,413

13,989

494

1,544

18,440

Profit for the year

–

–

–

1,030

1,030

Other comprehensive income

–

–

–

–

–

Total comprehensive income

–

–

–

1,030

1,030

645

10,235

–

–

10,880

–

–

136

–

136

Issue of share capital (net of issue costs)

Balance at 31 October 2018

718

(1,510)
10,403

(1,510)
69,420

Statement of changes in equity
As at 31 October 2018

Financial statement

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income

Governance

Share-based
payment
reserve
£’000

Share
capital
£’000

Strategic Report

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Company only Statement of changes in equity

Issue of share capital (net of Issue costs)
Share based payment cost – note 17
Dividend

–

–

–

3,058

24,224

630

1,673

29,585

Profit for the year

–

–

–

3,231

3,231

Other comprehensive income

–

–

–

–

–

Total comprehensive income

–

–

–

3,231

3,231

1,140

30,417

–

–

31,557

Share based payment cost – note 17

–

–

88

Dividend

–

–

–

4,198

54,641

718

Balance at 31 October 2017

Issue of share capital (net of issue costs)

Balance at 31 October 2018
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(901)

–
(1,510)
3,394

(901)

88
(1,510)
62,951
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Balance at 1 November 2016

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 October 2018

Note

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

20

4,810

5,704

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations
Tax paid

(1,311)

Net cash inflow from operating activities

3,499

(351)
5,353

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

9

Purchase of intangible assets, net of cash
Payment of deferred consideration
Interest received
Net cash outflow from investing activities

4

(278)

(265)

(15,822)

(9,134)

(4,571)

(2,007)

101

19

(20,570)

(11,387)

32,602

10,022

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of shares
Share issue costs
Proceeds from finance leasing

(1,324)
–

(412)
255

Repayment of borrowings

(172)

(121)

Interest paid

(257)

(251)

(1,510)

(901)

Dividends
Net cash inflow from financing activities

29,339

8,592

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

12,268

2,558

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year
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9,275

6,717

21,543

9,275

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 October 2018

AFH Financial Group is a company incorporated in England and Wales under the Companies Act 2006 and is
registered at AFH House, Buntsford Drive, Stoke Heath, Bromsgrove, Worcestershire, B60 4JE.
The Company is principally engaged in the provision of independent financial advice and investment management
to the retail market.

Strategic Report

1. General Information

This financial information has been prepared for the year ended 31 October 2018.

1.1 Principal accounting policies
(a) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

The company financial statements have been prepared under the historic cost convention.
The financial information has been prepared in Sterling.
The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below and have been applied consistently.
The Company has taken advantage of the following exemptions in preparing these financial statements, as
permitted by FRS101 paragraph 8.

Financial statement

The company financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101
“Reduced Disclosure Framework” (“FRS 101”) and in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Companies
Act 2006. Except for certain disclosure exemptions detailed below, the recognition, measurement and disclosure
requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU (EU-adopted IFRSs) have been
applied to these financial statements and, where necessary, amendments have been made in order to comply
with the Companies Act 2006 and The Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups Regulations 2008/410
(‘Regulations’).

Governance

The consolidated financial information has been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) and International Financial Reporting Standards Interpretation Committee Interpretations
that are endorsed by the European Union, and with those parts of the Companies Act 2006 applicable to those
companies reporting under IFRS.

(i)	The requirement of IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments Disclosures’ relating to the disclosure of financial instruments
and the nature and extent of risks arising from such instruments;

(iii)	The requirements of IAS 8 ‘Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors’ paragraph 30
and 31 relating to the disclosure of standards, amendments and interpretations in issue but not yet effective;
(iv)	The requirement of IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ paragraphs 134 to 136 relating to the disclosure
of capital management policies and objectives;
(v)	The requirements of IAS 7 ‘Statement of Cash Flows’ and IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ paragraph
10(d); 111 relating to the presentation of a Cash Flow Statement;
(vi)	The requirements of IAS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ relating to the disclosure of key management personnel
compensation and relating to the disclosure of related party transactions entered into between the company
and other wholly-owned subsidiaries of the group.
(b) Going Concern
The directors have considered the Company’s business activities, its cash flows and capital position for a period
of 12 months from approval of these accounts. The current view is that even without the organic growth and
expected acquisition trail in the new financial year the Company can continue to trade generating profits to cover
its short term and long-term liabilities.
Therefore, the directors are satisfied that the Company has adequate resources to continue in business for the
foreseeable future and for this reason continue to adopt the Going Concern basis in preparing the financial
information.
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(ii)	The requirement of IFRS 13 ‘Fair Value Measurement’ paragraph 91 to 99 relating to the fair value measurement
disclosure of financial assets and financial liabilities that are measure at fair value;

(continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 October 2018

1.1 Principal accounting policies (continued)
(c) Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Company obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. All intra-Group balances, income
and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-Group transactions are eliminated in full.
Control is achieved when the company has the power over the investee; is exposed or has rights to variable
return from its involvement with the investee; and has the ability to use its power to affects its returns.
(d) Business combinations
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method except for group reorganisations where
the combination is on a share for share basis and the resulting business remains unchanged. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and
the equity interests issued by the Company. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset
or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination
are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.
Any contingent consideration to be transferred, whether in cash or another financial instrument such as a
convertible loan note, is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value
of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in accordance with IAS 39
either in profit or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. Contingent consideration that is classified
as equity is not re-measured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
(e) Goodwill and Intangibles
Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s interest in
the net fair value of the separable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the subsidiary or an interest in an
associate undertaking recognised at the date of acquisition.
Goodwill is initially recognised as an asset at cost and is subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses on an annual basis. Any impairment is recognised immediately in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income and is not subsequently reversed.
The single cash generating unit to which Goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more
frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash
generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the cash generating unit, the impairment loss is allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash generating unit.
The cost of intangible assets, excluding goodwill acquired in a business combination is fair value as at the date of
acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or
indefinite. Intangible assets assessed as having finite lives are amortised over their useful economic life.
Intangible assets assessed as having finite lives are assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life is reviewed at least at each financial year end.
Intangible assets are amortised over the following periods:
•

Other intangibles – 10 years from the month of acquisition unless otherwise impaired.

•

Acquired client portfolios - 20 years from the month of acquisition unless otherwise impaired.

The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised within Administrative Expenses in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income.
(f) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment in
value. Depreciation is provided on all property, plant and equipment at rates calculated to write each asset down
to its estimated residual value over its expected useful life as follows:
•

Computer and office equipment at 20-25% per annum on cost

•

Fixtures and fittings at 20% per annum on cost
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Freehold land – no charge

•

Freehold land improvement at 12.5% per annum on cost

Any gain or loss arising on disposal of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the year the
asset is disposed of. The asset’s residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each
financial year end.

Strategic Report

•

(g) Investments
Investments comprise investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures. These investments are stated at cost, less
provision for impairment.
Governance

(h) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense when incurred.
(i) Leases
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income on a
straight line basis over the lease term.
Lease incentives are recognised over the term of the lease that the incentive is attached to.
(j) Cash and cash equivalents

(k) Share based payments
Employees (including senior executives) of the Company receive remuneration in the form of share based
payment transactions for services provided as consideration for equity instruments (“equity settled transactions”).

Financial statement

Cash and cash equivalents in the Statement of Financial Position comprise cash at banks and in hand and shortterm deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flow,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term deposits as defined above, net of outstanding bank
overdrafts.

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date on
which they are granted and is recognised as an expense over the period in which the performance and/or service
conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award
(“the vesting date”). Fair value is determined using the Black Scholes pricing model.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of earnings
per share.
(l)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and
the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received,
excluding discounts, rebates, and other sales taxes or duty.
—

Fee income

Fees are recognised as earned at the point when financial advice is provided and when fees from the management
of investments are earned.
—

Protection Income

Revenue is recognised as earned as the policy goes live and the fees from the policy are due.
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The cumulative expense recognised for equity settled transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date
reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Company’s best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The Statement of Comprehensive Income charge or credit for a period
represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period. No
expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 October 2018

1.1 Principal accounting policies (continued)
—

Interest income

Revenue is recognised as interest accrues (using the effective interest method that is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset).
(m) Taxation
The taxation expense represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.
Tax payable is measured at the amount expected to be paid to or recovered from the taxation authorities. The
tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the
reporting date.
Tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the Statement of Comprehensive
Income.
(n) Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. Deferred tax balances
are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except where the deferred tax balance arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time
of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits
and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax
asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised
to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred income tax asset to be
recovered.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date.
(o) Sales tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax, except:
•

Where the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority,
in which case the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense
as applicable; and

•

Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included.

(p) Dividend recognition
Dividend distributions to the Company’s shareholders are recognised in the accounting period in which the
dividends are declared and paid, or if earlier, in the accounting period when the dividend is approved by the
Company’s shareholders at the Annual General Meeting.
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Standards, interpretations and amendments effective from 1 November 2017
The adoption of the following mentioned standards, amendments and interpretations in the current year have not
had a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.
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(q) Changes in accounting policies

EU effective date
Periods beginning on
or after

1 January 2017

Amendment to IAS 12 Income Taxes: Recognition of deferred tax assets for
unrealised losses

1 January 2017

Annual Improvements to IFRSs (2014 - 2016): Clarification of the scope of
IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

1 January 2017

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are not yet effective

Governance

Amendment to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: Disclosure initiative

The adoption of the following mentioned standards, amendments and interpretations in future years are not
expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.
EU effective date
Periods beginning on
or after

Amendment to IAS 40 Investment Property: Transfers of investment
property

1 January 2018

Amendment to IFRS 2 Share-based Payment: Classification and
measurement of share-based payment transactions

1 January 2018

Amendment to IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts: Applying IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts

1 January 2018

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

1 January 2018

Amendments to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Prepayment features with
negative compensation

1 January 2019

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

1 January 2018

Clarifications to IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

1 January 2018

IFRS 16 Leases

1 January 2019

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Expected endorsement date not
available

Annual Improvements to IFRSs (2014 - 2016)

1 January 2018

Annual Improvements to IFRSs (2015 - 2017)

Not yet endorsed

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

1 January 2018

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

1 January 2019

Amendments to IAS 19: Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement

1 January 2019

Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS
Standards

1 January 2020

The Company is continuing to assess the full impact that adopting IFRS16 will have on the future financial
statements, and therefore the full effect is yet to be determined.

AFH Financial Group Report and Accounts 2018

37

Notes to the AGM

1 January 2019
Financial statement

Amendments to IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures:
Long-term interests in Associates and Joint Ventures

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 October 2018

1.1 Principal accounting policies (continued)
(r) Financial instruments
Loans and receivables
Trade receivables, loans and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market are classified as `loans and receivables’. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less any impairment.
Interest is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the
recognition of interest would be immaterial.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating
the interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the debt instrument to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.
Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets, other than those at Fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL), are assessed for indicators of
impairment at each reporting end date.
Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have
been affected.
Derecognition of financial assets
Financial assets are derecognised only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to another entity.
Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs.
They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with interest expense
recognised on an effective yield basis.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
Derecognition of financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are derecognised when, and only when, the Company’s obligations are discharged, cancelled
or expired.
Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
Capital risk management
The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a Going
Concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.
The Company monitors capital by maintaining or adjusting the capital structure by adjusting the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, issuing new shares and unsecured securities or selling assets to maintain financial
resources.
The capital employed by the Company is composed of equity attributable to the shareholders and long term
unsecured corporate bonds, as detailed in the Statement of Changes in Equity.
The capital structure of the Company consists of debt, cash and cash equivalents and equity comprising share
capital, reserves and retained earnings. The Company reviews the capital structure annually and as part of this
review considers that cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.
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The net book amount less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate
their fair values. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future
contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Company for similar financial
instruments.
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Fair value estimation

(s) Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The areas where a higher degree of judgement or complexity arises, or where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the Consolidated Financial Statements, are discussed below.

Governance

The application of the Company’s accounting policies requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various
other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis
of making judgements about net book values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates. If in the future such estimates and assumptions deviate
from actual circumstances, the original estimates and assumptions will be modified as appropriate in the period
in which the circumstances change.

Impairment of client portfolios

Impairment of goodwill
The Company determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
the value in use of the cash-generating unit to which the goodwill has been allocated. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit are discounted to their present
value using the Company’s weighted average cost of capital adjusted for tax. No impairments have been made
during the year (2017: £nil) based upon the Directors’ review.

The Company has entered into certain acquisition agreements that provide for a contingent consideration to be
paid. A provision is recognised for all amounts management anticipates will be paid under the relevant acquisition
agreement taking into account the probability of meeting each performance target. This requires management
to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the acquired client portfolio for the calculation of the
present value of those cash flows.
The contingent consideration is subject to an earn-out based on future turnover of acquisitions over a period up
to a four year period. The carrying amount of contingent consideration provided for at 31 October 2018 was £29m
(2017 – £11.2m).
Acquisitions
The Company’s business model is to make acquisitions through the direct purchase of the customer contracts or
via the acquisition of the share capital of legal entities.
Judgement is required by management in the interpretation of IFRS 3 for each share-based customer contract
transaction.
The directors of the Company assess for each acquisition, in line with IFRS 3 Appendix B, whether the share
transactions constitute business combinations’ or are in substance asset purchases. In making their judgement,
the directors consider all factors within IFRS 3 Appendix B Paragraphs B7 through to B12.
After assessment, the directors conclude whether each transaction is an asset purchases or a business combination
for financial reporting purposes.
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Contingent consideration

Financial statement

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that the carrying value may
be impaired. Where such an indication is identified the client portfolios are tested for impairment. This comprises
an estimation of the fair value less cost to sell and the value in use of the acquired client portfolios. The key
assumption used in arriving at a fair value less cost of sale is based on future expected earnings based on assets
under management. Future earnings streams for each cash generating unit is then discounted over a finite period
to calculate the fair value. The assumptions used by the Company have been determined by looking at valuations
of similar businesses and the consideration paid in comparable transactions.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 October 2018

2. Revenue and segmental analysis
The Board of Directors is considered to be the chief operating decision maker of the Company.
Segmental statement of comprehensive income
The segments are set out within the strategic report on page 10. The following is an analysis of the Company’s
revenue and results from continuing operations by reportable segment.

Head Office
2018
£’000

Financial Advice
and Investment
Management
2018
£’000

Protection
2018
£’000

Total
2018
£’000

Revenue

–

41,541

9,123

50,664

Cost of sales

–

(18,032)

(5,067)

(23,099)

Gross profit

–

23,509

4,056

27,565

Administrative expenses before amortisation
and depreciation and share based payments
expenses

(2,344)

(13,396)

(1,386)

(17,126)

Underlying EBITDA

(2,344)

10,113

2,670

10,439

–

(2,374)

(41)

(2,415)

(88)

–

–

(88)

Operating profit

(2,432)

7,739

2,629

7,936

Finance income

90

9

2

101

(228)

(22)

–

(250)

(2,570)

7,726

2,631

7,787

Head Office
2017
£’000

Financial Advice
and Investment
Management
2017
£’000

Protection
2017
£’000

Total
2017
£’000

Revenue

–

30,671

2,968

33,639

Cost of sales

–

(13,750)

(1,922)

(15,672)

Gross profit

–

16,921

1,046

17,967

Administrative expenses before amortisation
and depreciation and share based payments
expenses

(1,620)

(10,314)

(386)

(12,320)

Underlying EBITDA

(1,620)

6,607

660

5,647

–

(1,766)

(12)

(1,778)

(136)

–

–

(136)

Operating profit

(1,756)

4,841

648

3,733

Finance income

17

2

–

19

Amortisation and Depreciation
Non cash share based payments

Finance costs
Profit before tax

Amortisation and Depreciation
Non cash share based payments

Finance costs
Profit before tax

(228)

(17)

–

(245)

(1,967)

4,826

648

3,507

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated from external customers. There were no Intersegment sales in the current year.
The Accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Company’s accounting policies described
in note 1.
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Segmental Assets
The following is an analysis of the Company’s Assets from continuing operations by reportable segment.
2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Head Office

16,324

4,073

Financial Advice and Investment Management

11,325

8,622

Protection

7,524

2,595

35,173

15,290
Governance

Segmental Liabilities
The following is an analysis of the Company’s Liabilities from continuing operations by reportable segment.

Head Office
Financial Advice and Investment Management
Protection

Strategic Report

2. Revenue and segmental analysis (continued)

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2,799

1,317

16,333

8,224

4,435

2,506

23,567

12,047

No customer is defined as a major customer by revenue, contributing more than 10% of the Company revenues
(2017 – none).

3. Operating Profit
2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2,172

1,517

Depreciation of tangible assets

243

245

Operating lease rentals

480

363

Financial statement

The total revenue of the Company for the year has been derived from its activities wholly undertaken in the United
Kingdom.

Operating profit is stated after charging:
Amortisation of intangible assets

A summary of the audit and non-audit fees in respect of services provided by the Company’s auditors charged to
operating profit is set out below:
2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Company’s annual
accounts

15

15

Audit of accounts of subsidiaries

45

20

Total Audit Fees

60

35

Other assurance services

2

2

Taxation services

7

5

Total Non-Audit Fees

9

7

AFH Financial Group Report and Accounts 2018

41

Notes to the AGM

Services provided by the Company’s auditors:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 October 2018

4. Finance
Finance costs
2018
£’000

2017
£’000

250

245

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

101

19

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

11,584

8,265

Social security costs

1,145

834

Other pension costs

794

279

88

137

13,611

9,515

2018
Number

2017
Number

7

7

Office

351

265

Total

358

272

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

1,767

630

68

(201)

Loan interest
Finance income

Bank interest

5. Employees
Employee costs (including salaried directors) for the Company were as follows:

Wages and salaries

Share based payments

The average number of employees (including directors) during the year were as follows:

Directors

6. Income tax expense
Current tax
– Current year
– Prior year
Deferred tax
– Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences
– Prior year
Income tax expense reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income
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4

15

(6)

–

1,833

444

Profit before tax

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

7,787

3,507

1,480

667

Profit before income tax multiplied by the rate of
Corporation tax in the UK 19% (2018), 19.42% (2017)

Strategic Report

Reconciliation of profit before tax to total tax expense for the year:

Effect of:
Non-deductible expenses/(income)
Prior year adjustment

(37)

68

(201)

1,835

429

Changes in the applicable tax rates over the periods are due to the reduction in Corporation tax rates.

7. Dividends
Ordinary interim paid
Dividend per share

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

1,510

901

4 pence

3 pence

Governance

Income tax expense reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income

287

The group is proposing an interim dividend based on the reported results of 6p per share, which equates £2,518,939.

Goodwill
£’000

Acquired client
portfolios
£’000

Total
£’000

–

2,465

21,543

24,008

401

–

14,203

14,604

–

4,500

–

4,500

At 31 October 2017

401

6,965

35,746

43,112

Additions, separately acquired

145

–

16,585

16,730

Cost
At 1 November 2016
Additions, separately acquired
Additions, through business combination

Additions, through business combination

–

21,440

–

21,440

546

28,405

52,331

81,282

At 1 November 2016

–

375

2,274

2,649

Charge for the year

16

–

1,517

1,533

At 31 October 2018
Amortisation and impairment

At 31 October 2017

16

375

3,791

4,182

Charge for the year

41

–

2,131

2,172

At 31 October 2018

57

375

5,922

6,354

At 31 October 2018

489

28,030

46,409

74,928

At 31 October 2017

385

6,590

31,955

38,930

Net book value

Goodwill and Acquired client portfolios
Goodwill believed to have an indefinite useful life is carried at cost. The determination of whether goodwill is
impaired requires an assessment of the value in use. The recoverable amount of goodwill on a value in use
calculation is based on the discounted cash flows expected from the intangible assets of each acquisition, assuming
no future growth in revenue generated cash flows, discounted at an asset specific rate of 10%, for a period of 10
years with no annuity. On this basis the directors believe the value of goodwill is not impaired at 31 October 2018.
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Other intangibles
£’000

Financial statement

8. Intangible assets

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 October 2018

8. Intangible assets (continued)
The Directors have assessed the sensitivity of the assumptions detailed above and consider that, due to the level of
prudence already factored into these assumptions, it would require a significant adverse variance in any of these
to reduce the fair value to a level where it matched the carrying value.
During the year ended 31 October 2018 12 asset purchases were undertaken relating to acquired client portfolios.
Consideration for these acquisitions amounted to £16.6m, of which £16.6m related to client portfolios. Included
within the total consideration are amounts relating to contingent consideration of £9.4m. The contingent
consideration is subject to earn outs based on future turnover over a period up to a four-year period.
In addition, four share purchases, disclosed in note 11 were undertaken, resulting in £21.4m of goodwill being
recognised.

9. Property, plant and equipment
Freehold land and
improvements
£’000

Computer and office
equipment
£’000

Fixtures, fittings &
equipment
£’000

Total
£’000

711

547

462

1,720

Additions through acquisitions

–

–

3

3

Additions

–

202

47

249

Disposals

–

(52)

(88)

(140)

711

697

424

1,832

Cost
At 1 November 2016

At 31 October 2017
Additions through acquisitions

–

–

–

–

Additions

–

119

159

278

Disposals

–

–

–

–

711

816

583

2,110

At 1 November 2016

31

253

234

518

Charge for the year

31

156

58

245

Disposals

–

(38)

(88)

(126)

At 31 October 2017

62

371

204

637

Charge for the year

31

146

66

243

At 31 October 2018
Depreciation

Disposals

–

–

–

–

93

517

270

880

At 31 October 2018

618

299

313

1,230

At 31 October 2017

649

326

220

1,195

At 31 October 2018
Net book value

Included in freehold land and improvements is £460,000 of land that has an indefinite useful life. Included in the
Computer and Office Equipment is £105,322, net book value, of assets under finance leases.
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Consolidated
Shares in group
undertakings
£’000
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10. Investments

Cost
At 1 November 2016

1

Additions

–

Disposals

–
1

Additions

–

Disposals

–

At 31 October 2018

1

Governance

At 31 October 2017

Net book value
At 31 October 2018

1

At 31 October 2017

1

The Shares in group undertakings represent certain subsidiary companies and joint ventures that have not been
consolidated into the Company on the grounds of being immaterial.

Fixed assets investments
Shares in group
undertakings
£’000

Financial statement

Company

Cost
At 1 November 2016
Additions
Disposals

–
–
2,022

Additions

250

Disposals

(300)

At 31 October 2018

1,972

Net book value
At 31 October 2018

1,972

At 31 October 2017

2,022

In the opinion of the directors, the aggregate value of the company’s investment in subsidiary undertakings is not
less than the amount included in the balance sheet.
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At 31 October 2017

2,022

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 October 2018

11. Business Combinations
a.

Acquisitions in the financial year ended 31 October 2018

The following business combinations have been reviewed to identify separable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities of the entities or an interest in an associated recognised at the date of acquisition and the date of
presenting these accounts. The difference between these and the purchase consideration has been defined as
Goodwill. A review will also be completed at the 12 month anniversary and we will report any changes.
Acquisition of Arc Insure Ltd
Arc Insure Limited was acquired by AFH Protection Group Limited on 6 July 2018 and undertakes the trade
of Protection Brokering to the retail market, 100% of the voting equity was acquired. The Board recognised a
commercial opportunity to expand the protection sector of the Group via the acquisition of Arc Insure in line with
the Company’s Acquisitive strategy of strengthening its presence within the Insurance Market. The acquisition has
been accounted for using the acquisition method. The provisional fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities
of Arc Insure as at the date of acquisition was:

Fixed Assets

Fair value to be
recognised on
acquisition
£’000

Fair value
adjustments
£’000

Previous
carrying value
£’000

–

–

–

–

Trade and Other Receivables

115

Cash at bank

127

Assets

242

–

242

49

–

49

Provisions

360

–

360

Liabilities

409

–

409

Trade and other payables

Total identifiable net liability at fair value

(167)

Goodwill arising on acquisition (note 8)

4,000

Purchase consideration transferred

3,833

Initial cash consideration

–

Deferred contingent consideration

3,833

Total acquisition cost

3,833

Cash outflow on acquisition

£’000

Cash paid
Cash acquired
Acquisition costs
Net cash Inflow

115
127

–
127
(16)
111

The contingent consideration is payable in four tranches on 6 July 2019, 6 July 2020, 6 July 2021 and 6 July 2022
and subject to an earn-out based on future turnover. The maximum amount payable is £3.8m. The Goodwill
balance of £4m is deemed to be the assembled team and the internal processes used to operate the company.
Acquisitions costs amounted to £16k and were recognised in the profit and loss.
The post-acquisition revenue for the period ended 31 October 2018 was £366k and the post-acquisition profit for
the period ended 31 October 2018 was £46k. If the acquisition had taken place on 1 November 2018, management
estimate that the revenue would have been £1.1m and there would have been a profit of £138k.
This acquisition will continue to trade independently from AFH Independent Financial Services Limited for the
foreseeable future.
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HTH (Group) Limited and Subsidiaries were acquired by AFH Group Limited on 24 August and undertakes the
trade of Independent Financial Advice to the retail market, 100% of the voting equity was acquired. The Group has
acquired this company in line with its acquisitive strategy in expanding the Company’s presence across the UK
within the Financial services market. The acquisition has been accounted for using the acquisition method. The
provisional fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of HTH (Group) Limited and Subsidiaries as at the date
of acquisition was:
Fair value
adjustments
£’000

Previous
carrying value
£’000

–

–

–

Trade and Other Receivables

168

–

168

Cash at bank

333

–

333

Assets

501

–

501

Trade and other payables

172

–

172

–

–

–

172

–

172

Fixed Assets

Provisions
Liabilities
Total identifiable net asset at fair value

329
5,240

Purchase consideration transferred

5,569
2,649

Deferred contingent consideration

2,920

Total acquisition cost

5,569

Cash outflow on acquisition

£’000

Cash paid

2,649

Cash acquired

(333)

Acquisition costs

–

Net cash Outflow

2,316

Notes to the AGM

Initial cash consideration

Financial statement

Goodwill arising on acquisition (note 8)

The contingent consideration is payable in two tranches on 28 October 2019 and 28 October 2020, subject to an
earn-out based on future turnover. The maximum amount payable is £5.7m. The Goodwill balance of £5.2m is
deemed to be the assembled team and the internal processes used to operate the company.
The post-acquisition revenue for the period ended 31 October 2018 was £471k and the post-acquisition profit for
the period ended 31 October 2018 was £192k. If the acquisition had taken place on 1 November 2017, management
estimate that the revenue would have been £2.8m and there would have been a profit of £1.2m.
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Fair value to be
recognised on
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£’000

Strategic Report

Acquisition of HTH (Group) Limited and Subsidiaries
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11. Business Combinations (continued)
Acquisition of LFS & Partners Holdings Limited
LFS & Partners Holdings Limited and Subsidiaries were acquired by AFH Group Limited on 31 August and undertakes
the trade of Independent Financial Advice to the retail market, 100% of the voting equity was acquired. The Group
has acquired this company in line with its acquisitive strategy in expanding the Company’s presence across the
UK within the Financial services market. The acquisition has been accounted for using the acquisition method. The
provisional fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of LFS & Partners Holdings Limited and Subsidiaries as
at the date of acquisition was:
Fair value to be
recognised on
acquisition
£’000

Fair value
adjustments
£’000

Previous
carrying value
£’000

–

–

–

Trade and Other Receivables

528

–

528

Cash at bank

824

Fixed Assets

Assets

1,352

824
–

1,352

Trade and other payables

313

–

313

Provisions

95

–

95

Liabilities

408

–

408

Total identifiable net asset at fair value

944

Goodwill arising on acquisition (note 8)

4,212

Purchase consideration transferred

5,156

Initial cash consideration

3,156

Deferred contingent consideration
Total acquisition cost
Cash outflow on acquisition

2,000
5,156
£,000

Cash paid

3,156

Cash acquired

(824)

Acquisition costs

–

Net cash outflow

2,332

The contingent consideration is payable in two tranches on 31 October 2019 and 31 October 2020, subject to an
earn-out based on future turnover. The maximum amount payable is £5.2m. The Goodwill balance of £4.1m is
deemed to be the assembled team and the internal processes used to operate the company.
The post-acquisition revenue for the period ended 31 October 2018 was £533k and the post-acquisition profit for
the period ended 31 October 2018 was £145k. If the acquisition had taken place on 1 November 2017, management
estimate that the revenue would have been £3.2m and there would have been a profit of £870k.
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Core Financial Holdings Limited and subsidiaries were acquired by AFH Group Limited on 28 September and
undertakes the trade of Independent Financial Advice to the retail market, 100% of the voting equity was acquired.
The Group has acquired this company in line with its acquisitive strategy in expanding the Company’s presence
across the UK within the Financial services market. The acquisition has been accounted for using the acquisition
method. The provisional fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Core Financial Services and subsidiaries
as at the date of acquisition was:
Fair value
adjustments
£’000

Previous
carrying value
£’000

–

–

–

Trade and Other Receivables

55

–

55

Cash at bank

710

Assets

765

–

765

Trade and other payables

339

–

339

–

–

–

Liabilities

339

–

339

Total identifiable net asset at fair value

426

Fixed Assets

Provisions

7,988

Purchase consideration transferred

8,414

Initial cash consideration

Financial statement

Goodwill arising on acquisition (note 8)

710

4,004

Deferred contingent consideration

4,410

Total acquisition cost

8,414
£,000

Cash paid

4,004

Cash acquired

(710)

Acquisition costs

–

Net cash outflow

3,294

Notes to the AGM

Cash outflow on acquisition

The contingent consideration is payable in two tranches on 28 November 2019 and 218 November 2020, subject
to an earn-out based on future turnover. The maximum amount payable is £8.4m. The Goodwill balance of £7.9m
is deemed to be the assembled team and the internal processes used to operate the company.
The post-acquisition revenue for the period ended 31 October 2018 was £364k and the post-acquisition profit for
the period ended 31 October 2018 was £81k. If the acquisition had taken place on 1 November 2017, management
estimate that the revenue would have been £4.4m and there would have been a profit of £972k.
b.

Acquisitions in the financial year ended 31 October 2017

A review has been undertaken of the business combinations in the previous financial year to consider if any
of the fair values or future deferred considerations need to be restated since the previous financial year. No
adjustments have been identified in this financial year.
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Acquisition of Core Financial Holdings Limited and subsidiaries
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12. Trade and other receivables
Consolidated
2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Trade receivables

11,089

4,426

Other receivables

1,932

725

609

864

13,630

6,015

Prepayments

Included in Trade receivables is £3,678,111 of trade receivables due in greater than 1 year.
Company

Amounts owed by Group Companies
Other receivables
Prepayments

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

48,484

27,101

–

14

75

38

48,559

27,153

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

752

752

2,142

2,142

394

464

3,288

3,358

There are no bad or doubtful receivables.

13. Borrowings
Consolidated

8% Unsecured bonds
7.5% Unsecured bonds
Mortgage on freehold property

Analysis of borrowings
Current borrowings
8% Unsecured bonds
7.5% Unsecured bonds
Mortgage on freehold property

-

-

2,142

-

79

77

2,221

77

752

752

-

2,142

315

387

1,067

3,281

Non-current borrowings
8% Unsecured bonds
7.5% Unsecured bonds
Mortgage on freehold property

The financial liabilities are recognised at amortised cost. There is no material difference between the fair value
and the carrying value.
The 8% unsecured bond, issued in August 2013 is due in 2020. The 7.5% Unsecured bond, issued in December 2014
was settled in December 2018. See note 24.
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Company

8% Unsecured bonds
7.5% Unsecured bonds

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

752

752

2,142

2,142

2,894

2,894

–

–

2,142

–

2,142

–

752

752

–

2,142

752

2,894

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

1,240

1,373

Strategic Report

The mortgage is repayable by instalments over an 8-year period with an interest rate of 2.9% over LIBOR.

Analysis of borrowings
8% Unsecured bonds
7.5% Unsecured bonds

Governance

Current borrowings

Non-current borrowings
8% Unsecured bonds
7.5% Unsecured bonds

Consolidated

Current
Trade payables

11,323

4,637

Commissions payable

4,466

4,076

Other payables

762

599

Accruals

936

817

18,727

11,502

17,138

6,736

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

116

82

278

388

48

–

520

304

962

774

Non-current
Contingent consideration

Included in other payables is £105k (2017: £207k) of Finance Leases payable within 1 year.
Company

Current
Trade payables
Amounts owing to group undertakings
Other payables
Accruals
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Contingent consideration

Financial statement

14. Trade and other payables

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 October 2018

15. Deferred tax
Deferred tax asset

43

Balance at 1 November 2016

–

Charge to profit or loss

(15)

Fair value adjustments on business combinations

–

Balance at 31 October 2017

28

Charge to profit or loss

2

Fair value adjustments on business combinations

–

Balance at 31 October 2018

30

The deferred tax asset is made up as follows:

Prior year losses carried forward to offset future profits

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

30

28

30

28

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

49

–

16. Provisions
Current
Onerous Lease
Clawback provision

1,521
1,570

–

Non-Current

170

49

Onerous Lease

170

49

Onerous lease
A provision is held for the lease premiums on the part of the head office not currently in use. The provision has
been calculated based on the floor space and the monthly charge. The offices are expected to be in use during
the next financial year.
Clawback provision
A provision is held within the protection division for projected cancelled policies ahead of the agreed terms. The
provision is calculated on the actual run-rate of cancelled policies with 90% of clawbacks occurring in the first
12 months.
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No. Shares Issued

Par value per share
£

Share Capital

24,125,310

0.10

2,413

6,458,133

0.10

645

30,583,443

0.10

3,058

Shares issued

11,398,867

0.10

1,140

As at 1 November 2018

41,982,310

0.10

4,198

As at 1 November 2016
Shares issued
As at 1 November 2016

On 1 November 2017, 2,000 Ordinary Shares were issued at £1.00 each to satisfy the exercise of share options with
£0.90 per share transferred to the share premium account.
On 28 November 2017, 1,298 Ordinary Shares were issued at £1.54 each to satisfy the exercise of share options
with £1.44 per share transferred to the share premium account.

Governance

On 1 November 2017, 10,000 Ordinary Shares were issued at £1.20 each to satisfy the exercise of share options with
£1.10 per share transferred to the share premium account.

Strategic Report

17. Share capital

On 5 December 2017, 7,000,000 Ordinary Shares were issued at £2.50 each with £2.40 per share transferred to
the share premium account.
On 15 January 2018, 3,000 Ordinary Shares were issued at £1.00 each to satisfy the exercise of share options with
£0.90 per share transferred to the share premium account.

On 19 January 2018, 15,215 Ordinary Shares were issued at £0.37 each to satisfy the exercise of share options with
£0.27 per share transferred to the share premium account.
On 23 January 2018, 6,000 Ordinary Shares were issued at £1.00 each to satisfy the exercise of share options with
£0.90 per share transferred to the share premium account.

Financial statement

On 19 January 2018, 1,995 Ordinary Shares were issued at £1.505 each to satisfy the exercise of share options with
£1.405 per share transferred to the share premium account.

On 24 January 2018, 500 Ordinary Shares were issued at £1.00 each to satisfy the exercise of share options with
£0.90 per share transferred to the share premium account.
On 24 January 2018, 8,694 Ordinary Shares were issued at £0.37 each to satisfy the exercise of share options with
£1.405 per share transferred to the share premium account.

On 2 February 2018, 106,764 Ordinary Shares were issued at £2.48 each with £2.38 per share transferred to the
share premium account.
On 13 April 2018, 67,925 Ordinary Shares were issued at £0.37 each to satisfy the exercise of share options with
£0.27 per share transferred to the share premium account.
On 20 April 2018, 4,655 Ordinary Shares were issued at £1.505 each to satisfy the exercise of share options with
£1.405 per share transferred to the share premium account.
On 20 April 2018, 10,000 Ordinary Shares were issued at £1.00 each to satisfy the exercise of share options with
£1.405 per share transferred to the share premium account.
On 18 July 2018, 600 Ordinary Shares were issued at £1.00 each to satisfy the exercise of share options with £0.90
per share transferred to the share premium account.
On 20 July 2018, 6,521 Ordinary Shares were issued at £0.37 each to satisfy the exercise of share options with
£0.27 per share transferred to the share premium account.
On 20 July 2018, 2,000 Ordinary Shares were issued at £1.00 each to satisfy the exercise of share options with
£0.90 per share transferred to the share premium account.
On 23 July 2018, 6,896 Ordinary Shares were issued at £1.45 each to satisfy the exercise of share options with £1.35
per share transferred to the share premium account.
On 25 July 2018, 1,330 Ordinary Shares were issued at £1.505 each to satisfy the exercise of share options with
£1.405 per share transferred to the share premium account.
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On 26 January 2018, 665 Ordinary Shares were issued at £1.505 each to satisfy the exercise of share options with
£1.405 per share transferred to the share premium account.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 October 2018

17. Share capital (continued)
On 31 July 2018, 36,094 Ordinary Shares were issued at £1.00 each to satisfy the exercise of share options with
£0.90 per share transferred to the share premium account.
On 31 July 2018, 35,000 Ordinary Shares were issued at £1.20 each to satisfy the exercise of share options with
£1.10 per share transferred to the share premium account.
On 31 July 2018, 17,661 Ordinary Shares were issued at £0.37 each to satisfy the exercise of share options with
£0.27 per share transferred to the share premium account.
On 24 September 2018, 3,000 Ordinary Shares were issued at £1.00 each to satisfy the exercise of share options
with £0.90 per share transferred to the share premium account.
On 11 October 2018, 2,500 Ordinary Shares were issued at £1.00 each to satisfy the exercise of share options with
£0.90 per share transferred to the share premium account.
On 18 October 2018, 400 Ordinary Shares were issued at £1.00 each to satisfy the exercise of share options with
£0.90 per share transferred to the share premium account.
On 19 October 2018, 4,054,055 Ordinary Shares were issued at £3.60 each with £3.50 per share transferred to the
share premium account.
On 22 October 2018, 5,500 Ordinary Shares were issued at £1.00 each to satisfy the exercise of share options with
£0.90 per share transferred to the share premium account.
On 25 October 2018, 665 Ordinary Shares were issued at £1.505 each to satisfy the exercise of share options with
£0.90 per share transferred to the share premium account.
On 29 October 2018, 5,000 Ordinary Shares were issued at £1.00 each to satisfy the exercise of share options with
£0.90 per share transferred to the share premium account.
On 29 October 2018, 22,279 Ordinary Shares were issued at £0.37 each to satisfy the exercise of share options
with £0.27 per share transferred to the share premium account.
On 31 October 2018, 3,000 Ordinary Shares were issued at £1.00 each to satisfy the exercise of share options with
£0.90 per share transferred to the share premium account.
On 31 October 2018, 655 Ordinary Shares were issued at £1.505 each to satisfy the exercise of share options with
£1.405 per share transferred to the share premium account.
Earnings per share
The calculation of earnings per share is based on the profit attributable to the equity holders for the year of
£5,954,400 (2017 – £3,063,544) and weighted average number of shares in issue during the period of 37,235,148
(2017 – 27,300,689).
The calculation of Underlying EBITDA per share is based on the Underlying EBITDA of £8,454,519 (2017 – £5,648,704)
and weighted average number of shares in issue during the period of 37,235,148 (2017 – 27,300,689).
The diluted earnings per share has been adjusted for the potential share issue relating to the share-based
payments. The number of shares has been increased by the difference between the amount of shares that will be
issued if all options are exercised and the number of shares that could be purchased for the same consideration
at average market price.
31 October 2018
£’000

31 October 2017
£’000

5,954

3,063

–

–

5,954

3,063

31 October 2018

31 October 2017

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of basic
earnings per share

37,235,148

27,300,689

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares

3,622,564

2,420,417

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of diluted
earnings per share

40,857,712

29,721,106

Earnings for the purpose of basic earnings per share being net profit
attributable to shareholders
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares
Earnings for the purpose of diluted earnings per share
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Share-based payment transactions
During the year ended 31 October 2018, the Company has had twenty nine share-based payment arrangements,
which are described below.
Contractual
life

Vesting conditions

EMI Scheme Share-option
Scheme

22-Jun-11

138,567

10 years

Change of control, asset sale, admission or
the service of a notice by the directors

Contractors Share-option
Scheme

22-Jun-11

405,105

10 years

Change of control, asset sale, admission or
the service of a notice by the directors

EMI Scheme Share-option
Scheme

01-Aug-12

149,264

10 years

Change of control, asset sale or the service
of a notice by the directors

Contractors Share-option
Scheme

01-Aug-12

197,500

10 years

Change of control, asset sale or the service
of a notice by the directors

EMI Scheme Share-option
Scheme

13-Jan-14

425,000

10 years

Change of control, asset sale or the service
of a notice by the directors

EMI Scheme Share-option
Scheme

21-Jul-14

156,463

10 years

Change of control, asset sale or the service
of a notice by the directors

Unapproved Share-option
Scheme

21-Jul-14

261,395

10 years

Change of control, asset sale or the service
of a notice by the directors

Unapproved Share-option
Scheme

01-Oct-14

64,781

10 years

Change of control, asset sale or the service
of a notice by the directors

EMI Scheme Share-option
Scheme

1-Feb-15

7,980

10 years

Change of control, asset sale or the service
of a notice by the directors

EMI Scheme Share-option
Scheme

24-Mar-15

3,322

10 years

Change of control, asset sale or the service
of a notice by the directors

EMI Scheme Share-option
Scheme
29-May-15

6,896

10 years

Change of control, asset sale or the service
of a notice by the directors

01-Nov-15

127,806

10 years

Change of control, asset sale or the service
of a notice by the directors

EMI Scheme Share-option
Scheme

23-Dec-15

173,776

10 years

Change of control, asset sale or the service
of a notice by the directors

EMI Scheme Share-option
Scheme

01-Jan-16

35,000

10 years

Change of control, asset sale or the service
of a notice by the directors

CSOP Scheme Shareoption Scheme

01-Feb-16

5,830

10 years

Change of control, asset sale or the service
of a notice by the directors

CSOP Scheme Shareoption Scheme

01-Apr-16

18,867

10 years

Change of control, asset sale or the service
of a notice by the directors

Growth Shares Scheme
Share-option Scheme

01-Feb-16

280,000

10 years

Change of control, asset sale or the service
of a notice by the directors

Growth Shares Scheme
Share-option Scheme

01-Apr-16

42,000

10 years

Change of control, asset sale or the service
of a notice by the directors

CSOP Scheme Shareoption Scheme

3-Jan-17

119,540

10 years

Change of control, asset sale or the service
of a notice by the directors

Growth Shares Scheme
Share-option Scheme

2-Feb-17

288,000

10 years

Change of control, asset sale or the service
of a notice by the directors

CSOP Scheme Shareoption Scheme

10-Jul-17

3,690

10 years

Change of control, asset sale or the service
of a notice by the directors

AFH Financial Group Report and Accounts 2018

55

Notes to the AGM

EMI Scheme Share-option
Scheme

Financial statement

Number
granted

Governance

Date of
grant

Type of arrangement

Strategic Report

There are no adjustments between the net profit attributable to equity holders of the parent and the Earnings
from continued operations for the purpose of diluted earnings per share excluding discontinued operation.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 October 2018

17. Share capital (continued)
Date of
grant

Number
granted

Contractual
life

Vesting conditions

2-Aug-17

3,945

10 years

Change of control, asset sale or the service
of a notice by the directors

Growth Shares Scheme
Share-option Scheme

16-Nov-17

357,000

10 years

Change of control, asset sale or the service
of a notice by the directors

CSOP Scheme Shareoption Scheme

15-Nov-17

77,200

10 years

Change of control, asset sale or the service
of a notice by the directors

Contractors Share-option
Scheme

3-Dec-17

273,000

10 years

Change of control, asset sale or the service
of a notice by the directors

CSOP Scheme Shareoption Scheme

3-Jan-18

145,805

10 years

Change of control, asset sale or the service
of a notice by the directors

Growth Shares Scheme
Share-option Scheme

3-Jan-18

17,000

10 years

Change of control, asset sale or the service
of a notice by the directors

CSOP Scheme Shareoption Scheme

18-Nov-18

52,919

10 years

Change of control, asset sale or the service
of a notice by the directors

Growth Shares Scheme
Share-option Scheme

18-Nov-18

546,000

10 years

Change of control, asset sale or the service
of a notice by the directors

Type of arrangement
CSOP Scheme Shareoption Scheme

All share-option schemes will vest after three years from the date of the grant subject to individual performance
vesting conditions. However, options may be exercised early if the first of the vesting conditions described above
occurs and will be exercised on a time apportioned basis. There are no cash settlement alternatives.
The provision for share-based payments has been calculated using a Black-Scholes pricing model. The variables
used in the model throughout the four-year period to 31 October 2018 have been selected as follows:
Risk free rate of interest 2.5% based on 10-year UK Treasury Bonds. Dividend yield ranges between 1% and 1.3%.
Volatility 30% to 50% based on the actual volatility of AFH shares and comparatives with similar sized companies
in the same industry.
The grant price of all options was equal to the market price of the Company’s ordinary shares on the date of grant.
The estimated weighted average fair value of share options granted in the year, as set our above, is £nil (2017 –
nil).
Further details of the share option schemes are as follows:
Number
of options
2018

Weighted average
exercise price
2018
£

Number of
options
2017

Weighted average
exercise price
2017
£

At 1 November

2,420,417

1.35

2,190,015

1.13

Granted

1,448,924

3.18

411,230

2.02

Exercised

(206,813)

0.73

(12,000)

1.16

(39,964)

2.02

(168,828)

1.80

Outstanding at 31 October

3,622,564

2.12

2,420,417

1.35

Exercisable at 31 October

1,253,017

1.19

1,237,149

1.13

Lapsed

139,109 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2018 have an exercise price of £0.37, and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 2.65 years.
481,400 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2018 have an exercise price of £1.00, and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 3.75 years.
479,102 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2018 have an exercise price of £1.47, and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 5.75 years.
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3,322 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2018 have an exercise price of £1.51, and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 6.5 years.
98,221 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2018 have an exercise price of £1.69, and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 7.75 years.

Strategic Report

51,863 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2018 have an exercise price of £1.51, and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 6.25 years.

95,751 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2018 have an exercise price of £1.65, and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 7.75 years.
50,755 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2018 have an exercise price of £1.30, and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 7.5 years.

5,830 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2018 have an exercise price of £1.72, and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 7.5 years.

Governance

35,000 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2018 have an exercise price of £1.72, and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 7.5 years.

18,867 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2018 have an exercise price of £1.59, and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 7.5 years
280,000 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2018 have an exercise price of £1.80, and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 7.5 years.
42,000 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2018 have an exercise price of £1.67, and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 7.5 years.

288,000 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2018 have an exercise price of £1.73, and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 8.25 years.
3,690 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2018 have an exercise price of £2.71, and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 8.75 years.

Financial statement

96,785 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2018 have an exercise price of £1.63, and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 8.25 years.

3,945 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2018 have an exercise price of £2.54, and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 8.75 years.

273,000 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2018 have an exercise price of £2.78, and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 9.25 years.
152,805 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2018 have an exercise price of £2.92, and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 9.50 years.
598,919 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2018 have an exercise price of £3.94, and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 9.75 years.
The share-based payment expensed recognised is set out below:

Share-based payments expense
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2018
£’000

2017
£’000

88

136
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424,200 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2018 have an exercise price of £2.50, and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 9.00 years.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 October 2018

18. Reserves
The nature and purpose of each of the reserves included within equity is as follows:
Share premium
Share premium is the amount paid for shares issued in excess of the nominal value.
Merger reserve
The merger reserve was created when the Group was formed on 23 June 2010, bringing AFH Financial Group and
AFH Group Limited under a common ownership structure. The shareholders of AFH Group Limited exchanged for
shares in AFH Financial Group.
Share-based payment reserve
The share-based payment reserve is used to recognize the value of share-based payment transactions provided
to employees, including key management personnel, as part of their remuneration.

19. Directors’ remuneration
Details of Directors’ remuneration including share based payments made to directors during the years ended
31 October 2018 and 31 October 2017 are disclosed in the Report of the Remuneration Committee on page 19

20. Notes to the cash flow statement
Cash generated from operations
2018
£’000

2017
£’000

7,787

3,507

Interest and dividend income

(101)

(19)

Interest expenses

250

245

2,415

1,778

88

136

(7,646)

(1,195)

– Trade and other payables

2,017

1,252

Cash generated from operations

4,810

5,704

Profit before tax
Adjustments for:

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment
Equity settled share based payment expense
Movements in working capital:
– Trade and other receivables

21. Financial commitments
At the reporting dates, the Company has outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows:
Land & buildings
2018
£’000

Other
2018
£’000

Land & buildings
2017
£’000

Other
2017
£’000

Due within one year

559

31

418

55

Between one and two years

466

13

418

16

Between two and five years

1,344

3

1,254

–

413

–

2,503

71

In over five years
Total

–
2,369

47

The Company lease their head office and photocopiers. The head office lease has no break clause and expires in
5 years’ time.
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Interest rate risk management
The Company has an exposure to interest rate risk arising on interest-bearing deposits.
The Board monitors its treasury at least monthly and seeks to obtain a commercial rate of return from AA or above
rated UK institutions whilst not impacting on cash flow.

Strategic Report

22. Financial instruments

The possible movement in UK interest rates would not have a significant profit or loss.
Liquidity risk management

The Board reviews the Company’s liquidity at its monthly meetings. Board policy involves projecting cash flows
and considering the level of liquid assets necessary to meet these requirements.

Governance

The Board monitors forecasts of the Company’s liquidity comprising undrawn borrowing facilities and cash and
cash equivalents on the basis of expected cash flows. This is carried out in accordance with recommended
accounting practice and limits set by the Company.

An analysis of the Company’s contracted maturities of financial liabilities is as follows:
Effective
interest rate

Carrying
amount
£’000

8%

752

752

7.5%

2,142

2.9% over
LIBOR

1-2 years
£’000

2-5 years
£’000

›5 years
£’000

–

752

–

–

2,142

2,142

–

–

–

394

394

77

77

240

–

Trade payables

11,089

11,089

8,219

1,913

957

–

Other payables

1,932

1,932

1,932

–

–

–

28,461

28,461

11,308

14,753

2,400

–

2018

Cash flows Within a year
£’000
£’000

Loans
8% unsecured bond

Mortgage on freehold land

Contingent consideration

0%

Commissions payable
Total

4,466

4,466

–

–

–

49,236

28,144

17,495

3,597

–

Cash flows Within a year
£’000
£’000

1-2 years
£’000

2-5 years
£’000

›5 years
£’000

Effective
interest rate

Carrying
amount
£’000

8%

752

752

–

–

752

–

7.5%

2,142

2,142

–

2,142

–

–

Loans
8% unsecured bond
7.5% Unsecured bonds
Mortgage on freehold land

2.9% over
LIBOR

464

464

77

77

231

79

Trade payables

1,609

1,609

1,609

–

–

–

Other payables

1,707

1,707

1,707

–

–

–

11,210

11,210

4,474

6,736

–

–

2,624

2,624

2,624

–

–

–

20,508

20,508

10,491

8,955

983

79

Contingent consideration

0%

Commissions payable
Total

There is no material difference between the fair value and carrying value for those financial liabilities held at
amortised cost.
Credit risk
The Company has no significant exposure to credit risk with no bad or doubtful receivables.
The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by its trade receivables and cash balances, which
are usually paid within 60 working days.
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2017

4,466
49,236

Financial statement

7.5% Unsecured bonds

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 October 2018

22. Financial instruments (continued)
Aged trade receivables
£’000

Current
£’000

›30 days
£’000

›60 days
£’000

›90 days
£’000

Total receivables

2018

4,771

1,678

813

3,827

11,089

2017

2,964

988

474

–

4,426

The Company operates different credit terms in different parts of the business. The balances represent number of
days from the date of invoice. No impairments for bad or doubtful debts have been made. Given the credit terms
across the different parts of the business, the balances outside of the current category are not deemed to be past
due.

23. Related party transactions
During the year fees of £nil (2017 – £1,129) were paid to the partnership “A & F Hudson”. The director, Mr A Hudson,
has a material interest in this partnership.

24. Events subsequent to the Statement of Financial Position
On 2 November 2018 the Company announced the acquisition of Premier Wealth Management Harrogarte
Limited, a York based IFA. Following the acquisition Richard Evans and Andre Huby, the vendors, joined AFH.
On 13 November 2018 the Company announced the acquisition of CWP Financial Services Limited, South East
based IFA firm.
On 30 November 2018 the Company announced the acquisition of CTL Three Limited, South East based IFA firm.
On 12 December 2018 £2.14m of Unsecured Loan notes issued in December 2014 matured and were repaid in full.
On 12 December 426,400 Warrants were exercised at a price of £2.00 per share.
On 11 January the Company announced the acquisition of Hayburn Rock Group Limited, West Midlands based IFA
firm.
Additional information for all subsequent events listed above is included on our announcement pages via our
website. http://www.afhfinancialgroup.com/html/announcements.html
The initial assessment of the above acquisitions has not been completed at the date of approval of the accounts.

25.Group Companies
Listed below are the companies which are owned by the Company and all have a registered office of AFH House,
Buntsford Drive, Bromsgrove, B60 4JE, England:
Company

Principal Activity

Percentage owned

Holding Company

100%

AFH Independent Financial Services Ltd

Other financial services

100%(1)

Origin Financial Limited

Other financial services

100%(1)

Dormant

100%(1)

AFH JV (Holdings) Ltd

Other financial services

100%(1)

Eunisure Ltd

Other financial services

100%(2)

AFH Home and Protect Limited

Other financial services

100%(2)

AFH Commercial & General Limited

Other financial services

100%(2)

Arc Insure Limited

Other financial services

100%(2)

Parker Sage Ltd

Other financial services

100%(1)

Core Financial Holdings Limited

Other financial services

100%(1)

Core Financial Services Limited

Other financial services

100%(1)

Bay Associates Ltd

Other financial services

100%(1)

Bay Associates Ltd

Other financial services

100%(1)

AFH Group Ltd

GetInvested Limited
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Percentage owned

Bay Financial Management Ltd

Other financial services

100%(1)

Ashton House IFA Limited

Other financial services

100%(1)

Corville Financial Services Limited

Other financial services

100%(1)

LFS & Partner Limited

Other financial services

100%(1)

Duchy Wealth Management Ltd

Other financial services

100%(1)

HTH Group Limited

Other financial services

100%(1)

Thomas Held Limited

Other financial services

100%(1)

Thomas Held Solutions Limited

Other financial services

100%(1)

Harrison White FS Ltd

Other financial services

100%(1)

Mark Hughes & Associates Ltd

Other financial services

100%(1)

Shape Financial Ltd

Other financial services

100%(1)

Independent Financial Services (U.K.) Ltd

Other financial services

100%(1)

Davisons Financial Management Limited

Other financial services

100%(1)

St Johns Asset Management Limited

Other financial services

100%

AFH Investment Management Limited

Other financial services

100%(3)

AFH Legal Limited

100%

Holding Company

100%

AFH Group Services Limited

Holding Company

100%

AFH Protection Group Limited

Holding Company

100%

(1)

100% subsidiaries owned by AFH Group Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary of AFH Financial Group plc.

(2)

100% subsidiaries owned by AFH Protection Group Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary of AFH Financial Group plc.

(3)

100% subsidiary owned by St Johns Asset Management Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary of AFH Financial Group plc.

Financial statement

Legal services

AFH Acquisitions Limited

Governance

Principal Activity

Strategic Report

Company

Notes to the AGM
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Directors and Advisers

Directors

Mr A Hudson
Mr J Wheatley
Mr P Wright
Mrs S Lewis
Mr M Chambers
Mr A Broad
Mrs A Larvin

Secretary

Mrs A-M Brown

Company number

07638831

Registered office
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Bromsgrove
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Registered auditors

Mazars LLP
45 Church Street
Birmingham
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Registrars

SLC Registrars Limited
Elder House
St Georges Business Park
Brooklands Road
Weybridge
Surrey
KT13 0TS

Nominated Adviser

Liberum Capital Limited
Ropermaker Place
25 Ropermaker Street
London
EC2Y 9LY
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Notice of Annual General Meeting of the Company

Strategic Report

AFH FINANCIAL GROUP PLC
(Incorporated and registered in England and Wales with registered number 07638831)

(the “Company”)

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the ANNUAL GENERAL
MEETING of the Company will be held at 11:00 a.m.
on 1 March 2019 at AFH House, Buntsford Drive, Stoke
Heath, Bromsgrove B60 4JE for the purposes set out
below.

1.	
To receive the Accounts and Reports of the
Directors and of the Auditors for the year ended
31 October 2018.
2.	To re-elect John Wheatley who is retiring for reelection pursuant to Article 24.4.
3.	
To re-elect Paul Wright who is retiring for reelection pursuant to Article 24.4.
4.	
To re-elect Susan Lewis who is retiring for reelection pursuant to Article 24.4.

Special Business
Ordinary Resolution

b)	
the allotment (otherwise than pursuant to
paragraph (a) above) of equity securities up
to an aggregate nominal amount of £400,000,
representing approximately 9.5% of the
issued ordinary share capital of the Company,
(consisting of 4,000,000 ordinary shares of
10 pence each).
	The power granted by this resolution will expire on
the earlier of 15 calendar months from the date
upon which it is passed and the conclusion of the
Company’s next annual general meeting (unless
renewed, varied or revoked by the Company prior
to or on such date) save that the Company may,
before such expiry make offers or agreements
which would or might require equity securities to
be allotted after such expiry and the Directors may
allot equity securities in pursuance of any such
offer or agreement notwithstanding that the power
conferred by this resolution has expired.
	This resolution revokes and replaces all unexercised
powers previously granted to the Directors to allot
equity securities as if section 561(1) of the 2006 Act
did not apply but without prejudice to any allotment
of equity securities already made or agreed to be
made pursuant to such authorities.

	
This authority is in substitution for all previous
authorities conferred on the Directors in
accordance with section 551 of the 2006 Act.

8.	That the Company be, and is hereby, unconditionally
and generally authorised for the purposes of
section 701 of the Companies Act 2006 (the “Act”)
to make one or more market purchases (within the
meaning of section 693(4) of the Act) of ordinary
shares of 10 pence each in the capital of the
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6.	
That, in accordance with section 551 of the
Companies Act 2006 (the “2006 Act”), the Directors
be generally and unconditionally authorised to
allot shares in the Company or grant rights to
subscribe for or to convert any security into shares
in the Company (“Rights”) up to an aggregate
nominal amount of £400,000, representing
approximately 9.5% of the issued ordinary share
capital of the Company, (consisting of 4,000,000
ordinary shares of 10 pence each) provided that this
authority shall, unless renewed, varied or revoked
by the Company, expire at the earlier of 15 calendar
months from the date upon which it is passed and
the end of the next Annual General Meeting of the
Company to be held after the date on which this
resolution is passed, save that the Company may,
before such expiry, make an offer or agreement
which would or might require shares to be allotted
or Rights to be granted and the Directors may allot
shares or grant Rights in pursuance of such offer
or agreement notwithstanding that the authority
conferred by this resolution has expired.

a)	
the allotment of equity securities in
connection with an offer by way of a rights
issue to the holders of ordinary shares in
proportion (as nearly as may be practicable)
to their respective holdings but subject to
such exclusions or other arrangements as the
Directors may deem necessary or expedient
in relation to treasury shares, fractional
entitlements, record dates, legal or practical
problems in or under the laws of any territory
or the requirements of any regulatory body or
stock exchange; and

Financial statement

5.	
To re-appoint Mazars LLP as Auditors of the
Company and to authorise the Directors to fix their
remuneration.

7.	
That subject to the passing of resolution 6, the
Directors be given the general power to allot
equity securities (as defined by section 560 of the
2006 Act) for cash, either pursuant to the authority
conferred by resolution 6 or by way of a sale of
treasury shares, as if section 561(1) of the 2006 Act
did not apply to any such allotment, provided that
this power shall be limited to:

Governance

Ordinary Business

Special Resolution

Company (continued)

Notice of Annual General Meeting of the Company (continued)

Company (“Ordinary Shares”) on such terms and
in such manner as the directors shall determine,
provided that:
a)	the maximum aggregate number of Ordinary
Shares that may be purchased is 2,000,000
(representing approximately 5 per cent. of the
issued ordinary share capital of the Company);
b)	
the minimum price (excluding expenses)
which may be paid for each Ordinary Share
is 95 per cent. of the average of the closing
middle market price for an Ordinary Share as
derived from the AIM appendix to the London
Stock Exchange’s Daily Official List for the five
business days immediately prior to the day the
purchase is made;
c)	
the maximum price (excluding expenses)
which may be paid for each Ordinary Share
is an amount equal to 105 per cent. of the
average of the closing middle market price
for an Ordinary Share as derived from the
AIM appendix to the London Stock Exchange’s
Daily Official List for the five business days
immediately prior to the day the purchase is
made;
d)	this authority shall expire on the earlier of the
date falling 15 months after the date of the
passing of this resolution and the conclusion
of the next annual general meeting of the
Company unless previously revoked, varied or
renewed; and
e)	the Company may, before the expiry of the
authority granted by this resolution, enter into
a contract to purchase Ordinary Shares which
will or may be executed wholly or partly after
the expiry of such authority, and may make
a purchase of Ordinary Shares pursuant to
any such contract as if such authority had not
expired.

Dated 18 January 2019

By Order of the Board
Registered office:
AFH House, Buntsford Drive, Stoke Heath, Bromsgrove,
Worcester B60 4JE

Notes:
1	Shareholders are entitled to appoint a proxy to exercise all or
any of their rights to attend and to speak and vote on their behalf
at the Annual General Meeting. A Shareholder may appoint
more than one proxy in relation to the Annual General Meeting
provided that each proxy is appointed to exercise the rights
attached to a different share or shares held by that shareholder
– you may not appoint more than one proxy to exercise rights
attached to any one share. A proxy need not be a shareholder
of the Company. A Form of Proxy which may be used to make
such appointment and give proxy instructions accompanies
this notice. If you do not have a Form of Proxy and believe that
you should have one, or if you require additional forms, please
contact SLC Registrars Limited, Elder House, St. Georges Business
Park, Brooklands Road, Weybridge, Surrey, KT13 0TS or by e-mail
at office@slcregistrars.com;
2	To appoint as your proxy a person other than the Chairman of the
meeting, insert their full name in the relevant box on the proxy
form. If you sign and return the proxy form with no name inserted
in the box, the Chairman of the meeting will be deemed to be
your proxy. Where you appoint as your proxy someone other
than the Chairman, you are responsible for ensuring that they
attend the meeting and are aware of your voting intentions. If
you wish your proxy to make any comments on your behalf, you
will need to appoint someone other than the Chairman and give
them the relevant instructions directly.
3	To direct your proxy how to vote on the resolutions mark the
appropriate box with an ‘X’. To abstain from voting on a resolution,
select the relevant “Vote withheld” box. A vote withheld is not a
vote in law, which means that the vote will not be counted in the
calculation of votes for or against the resolution. If you give no
voting indication, your proxy will vote or abstain from voting at
his or her discretion. Your proxy will vote (or abstain from voting)
as he or she thinks fit in relation to any other matter which is put
before the meeting.
4	Appointment of a proxy does not preclude you from attending
the meeting and voting in person. If you have appointed a proxy
and attend the meeting in person, your proxy appointment will
automatically be terminated.
5	In the case of joint holders, where more than one of the joint
holders purports to appoint a proxy, only the appointment
submitted by the most senior holder will be accepted. Seniority is
determined by the order in which the names of the joint holders
appear in the Company’s register of members in respect of the
joint holding (the first-named being the most senior).
6	
If you submit more than one valid proxy appointment, the
appointment received last before the latest time for the receipt
of proxies will take precedence.
7	To be valid any Form of Proxy or other instrument appointing a
proxy must be received by post or (during normal business hours
only) by hand at SLC Registrars Limited, Elder House, St. Georges
Business Park, Brooklands Road, Weybridge, Surrey, KT13 0TS no
later than 11:00 a.m. on 27 February 2019.
8	
The return of a completed Form of Proxy will not prevent a
Shareholder attending the Annual General Meeting and voting in
person if he/she wishes to do so.
9	To be entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting
(and for the purpose of determination by the Company of the
votes they may cast), Shareholders must be registered in the
Register of Members of the Company at 6:30 p.m. on 27 February
2019 (or, in the event of any adjournment, on the time and date
which is 48 hours before the time of the adjourned meeting).
Changes to the Register of Members after the relevant deadline
shall be disregarded in determining the rights of any person to
attend and vote at the meeting.
10	As of 6.00 p.m. on the day immediately prior to the date of posting
of this Notice of Annual General Meeting, the Company’s issued
share capital comprised 42,479,169 ordinary shares of 10 pence
each. Each ordinary share carries the right to vote at a general
meeting of the Company and, therefore, the total number
of voting rights in the Company as at 6.00 p.m. on the day
immediately prior to the date of posting of this Notice of Annual
General Meeting is 42,479,169.
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